TABLE OF CONTENTS
MISSION, VISION & VALUES

1

MESSAGE TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS

2

4
8
12

20TH ANNIVERSARY MILESTONE
BUSINESS REVIEW

FINANCIAL REVIEW
13
14

CORPORATE STRUCTURE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
18

DIRECTORS’ PROFILE
21
24

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
26

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Create HOPE.
Live LIFE.
MISSION

To be the
GAMING
PARTNER
of CHOICE
VISION

VALUES
• Pacific Online is a LEARNING organization
composed of diverse individuals with unity of
purpose and a shared vision.
• We strive for EXCELLENCE in all we do.
• We fully accept ACCOUNTABILITY for all our actions,
decisions and responsibilities.
• We create our future driven by a DYNAMIC team of
professionals.
• We always aim to be EFFICIENT in all aspects of our work.

• We accord everyone due RESPECT and carry ourselves in a professional
manner.
• We nurture relationships by providing quality SERVICE to all stakeholders.
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A MESSAGE TO
OUR SHAREHOLDERS
“With two decades of gaming expertise
under its belt, Pacific Online is more than ready
and able to take its vision to the
next level of gaming.”

In 1996, Pacific Online Systems Corporation’s (Pacific Online) vision to become
a purveyor of hope was set into motion. Through cycles of incubation and timely
executions, Pacific Online proved adaptable and resilient to the changing times.
Fast-forward to 2016, the company reached its 20th anniversary milestone,
setting forth another cycle of exciting potentials. With two decades of gaming
expertise under its belt, Pacific Online is more than ready and able to take its
vision to the next level of gaming.
Your company’s performance in 2016 was generally favorable. Revenues
increased to Php 1.88 billion in 2016, representing a 10 percent growth from
Php 1.71 billion in 2015. Net income also rose to Php 400 million in 2016, up 16
percent from Php 345 million in 2015.
As much as we are in business to survive, we are also in business to thrive.
We are taking the company to the next level of what it could achieve, armed
with our new vision to become the gaming partner of choice, and our mission to
remind our stakeholders that our reason for being is to create hope. We are not
here to simply offer products - we are here to offer benefits that transcend the
tangible. We want to provide better service to our customers, to give our lottery
players more chances of hitting their jackpot dreams, which in turn increases
the contribution to PCSO’s charity fund, thereby effecting a cycle of change that
would improve people’s quality of life.
In our efforts to reach more players throughout the archipelago, our subsidiary,
Total Gaming Technologies, Inc. (TGTI), ramped up its Keno (Lotto Express)
rollout to 2,020 terminals in 2016, versus 1,770 terminals in 2015. Our
distribution network arm, Lucky Circle Corporation (LCC), increased its retail
network outlets by 3 percent, representing a jump to 268 outlets in 2016, from
260 outlets in 2015.
In line with our serious investments in infrastructure, technology, and people, we
transferred our Data Recovery System (DRS) to a high-grade facility; upgraded
our back-office support systems for full implementation this year; expanded our
logistics centers; and through an extensive audit, retained our ISO 9001:2008
Quality Management Systems and ISO/IEC 27001:2013 Information Security
Management certifications.
For us, technology is not limited to the physical equipment and network we
provide to our principal client, the Philippine Charity Sweepstakes Office
(PCSO). We take technology a step further, and view it as a means for
making things better and creating value: the value of synergy with the PCSO
in generating more funds for its charitable causes, which now includes drug
rehabilitation; the value of providing exciting new games and platforms for their
distribution; and the value of providing meaningful employment for our current
and potential employees.
We believe that with the support of the PCSO, our business partners, and
shareholders, coupled with an attitude centered on progress and proactivity,
Pacific Online can take gaming to the next level, and provide exciting new
avenues for lottery players and churn out more funds for charity. Good things
can be done alone, but greater things can be achieved together.
On behalf of our board of directors, management, and employees, we thank
you for the trust and support.

WILLY N. OCIER
Chairman and President

Obtained certification for
ISO 9001:2008 QMS &
ISO/IEC 2700:2013 ISMS

Awarded for distribution of
ScratchitTM nationwide

2015

2009
2010/2011
Awarded “Best Under a
$ Billion” by Forbes Asia

Publicly listed in PSE as
“LOTO”

Acquired Total Gaming
Technologies, Inc.
(50%)

1993

2004

2007

Acquired Lucky Circle
Corporation

1996

First Lotto game (6/42)
Was launched in VisMin.

CELEBRATING
20 YEARS AND
BEYOND
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BUSINESS REVIEW
Equipment Lessor
for Lotto
Pacific Online ended the year with a
total of 4,157 installed terminals, which
generated P12.1 billion in PCSO Lotto
sales. Visayas and Mindanao continued
to have the bulk of the share in terms of
sales at 86 percent while Luzon covered
the remaining 14 percent.
PCSO Lotto games can be categorized
into two types; i.e., digit games (EZ2,
3D Suertres and 4D) and jackpot draw
games ( 6/42 Lotto; 6/45 Mega Lotto;
6/49 Super Lotto; 6/55 Grand Lotto; and
6/58 Ultra Lotto). Digit games comprised 76 percent of total
Lotto sales, while the jackpot draw games consisted 24
percent. In terms of game coverage, 3D had the biggest
share at 66 percent followed by EZ2 at 9 percent, 6/55
Grand Lotto at 6 percent, 6/45 Mega Lotto and 6/49 Super
Lotto at 5 percent each, 6/42 Lotto at 4 percent, 6/58 Ultra
Lotto at 3 percent and 4D game at 1 percent.
Terminal installations in 2016 increased by 3 percent
compared to 4,051 terminals installed by end of 2015.
While terminal installations increased for yearend 2016,
Lotto sales plateaeud showing a decline of 1 percent.
Majority of the terminal installations were located in the
Visayas and Mindanao regions at 51 percent and 34
percent, respectively while 15 percent were in Luzon.
Despite the foregoing, the Company is optimistic that 2017
will be more progressive and will yield positive results due
to the government crackdown on illegal gambling. The
continuing implementation of support system upgrades,
installation of more robust terminals as well as focus on
efficient service delivery will enable the company to achieve
its target for the year.
Pacific Online commits to continue working on refreshing
the lottery landscape with systems enhancements and
new game concepts to ensure that it will be relevant and
responsive to the fast changing gaming market.
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Equipment Lessor for Keno (Lotto Express)
Total Gaming Technologies, Inc. (TGTI) posted Keno sales of P4.3 billion, a remarkable growth of 24.1
percent for the year 2016 as compared to last year’s performance of P3.5 billion. A total of 656 Keno
terminals were installed, closing the year with 2,020 terminals, or a growth of 14.1 percent compared
to the 1,770 terminals in 2015. Highest daily net sales reached P15,828,260 million on December 23,
2016.
TGTI continuously worked on support system upgrades in areas of terminal management, network
administration, and customer service, to provide fast and efficient service to Keno agents. Manpower
resources were increased to effectively expand coverage of services and accommodate the nationwide
growth requirements of Keno outlets. Further improvement on the reliability of Keno network was
addressed through the availability of two
3G single-sim modems which enabled the
Keno terminals to operate online with two
telco providers independently assigned
for broadcasting of draw and betting at
any given time.
The Company recognizes the value of its
agents to the success of the business,
and as such prioritizes high quality
of service to its customers. Thus, a
critical part of the Company’s personnel
development training program objective
is to focus on the importance of customer
care, professional handling of customer
complaints, and overall customer service
satisfaction
As TGTI looks forward to 2017, it is
optimistic that Keno sales will reach
over P5 billion by end of the year. The
demand for Keno is still growing as the
market’s awareness of the product as a
viable lottery revenue channel continues
to expand.
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BUSINESS REVIEW
Instant Ticket Distribution
For the year 2016, the company introduced two (2) new
game variants i.e., “Lucky Monkey” and “Ultra Cash”, in
addition to its 6 other best seller games, which include
the all time favorites “Go Bananas”, “Red Hot 7’s” and
“Money Tree”.
An aggressive marketing campaign was rolled out for the
year to further create consumer awareness and expand
customer reach that translated to higher instant ticket
sales in 2016. ScratchitTM advertising activities were
implemented through radio and television ads using
famous television celebrities, Jose Manalo and Wally
Bayola as brand ambassadors. Targeted below-the-line
campaigns complementing the traditional advertising
and promotional efforts were instituted thru participation
in the nationwide Kapamilya Caravan Festivals of ABSCBN as well as in selected trade shows. Active social
media presence such as sponsored ads and posts
enabled ScratchitTM to further strengthen its consumer
reach especially among the younger market.
The company continued its roll-out and installation of
over 500 Validation System terminals in different instant
ticket outlets around the country which enabled retailers
to efficiently monitor sales and inventory.
For 2017, the company will continue to focus on local
promotions and employ grassroot activities that aim to
further drive branding and create product awareness.

ScratchitTM Website

ScratchitTM Instagram
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Retail Network
The Company’s retail network business
segment generates commission revenues
from its wholly owned subsidiary Loto
Pacific Leisure Corporation (LotoPac),
which owns and/or manages PCSO lottery
outlets selling lotto, keno, instant scratch
tickets and sweepstakes in major shopping
malls nationwide. For the year 2016, the
commission and distribution revenues
significantly grew by 41 percent at P210
million over last year’s revenues of P149
million. This growth was driven by instant
scratch tickets and keno which posted
higher sales over 2015 by 43 percent and
16 percent, respectively.
The principal sales growth driver of the
Company is its rationalized expansion of
its retail outlets, which reached a total of
268 by yearend, or an additional 16 sites.
Luzon covered the biggest share in terms
of number of sites at 75 percent, while
Visayas and Mindanao combined is at 25
percent.
Complementing the expansion program,
the Company likewise developed new kiosk
designs and renovated some of its outlets
to ensure that all sites continue to provide
its players with an enjoyable and pleasant
playing experience. Front-end personnel
went through a series of workshops on
customer care to ensure excellent customer
service is provided at all times. Moreover,
the Company set up its own Logistics
Center to provide an efficient inventory and
supplies management system and ensure
timely delivery of service to all offices
and outlets. Likewise, back office system
upgrades were done during the year, to
ensure that data infrastructure is reliable,
efficient, secure, and resilient.

For 2017, the Company will focus on outlet operational
efficiency and profitability as well as expansion in
the Visayas and Mindanao areas with the opening
of strategic hubs in Iloilo and Davao. Innovation in
merchandising programs, customer service and kiosk
design development will also be a top priority in order
to be more responsive to the needs of its market. More
importantly, the Company will continue to work together
with PCSO and its major service providers in order to
further grow the gaming market in the Philippines.

11

FINANCIAL REVIEW

2016

(Note: Amounts above are in million pesos)

2015

2014

2013

		

Total consolidated revenues from operating sources of about P1.89 billion for the year ended December
31, 2016, grew by P169.8 million, or 10 percent over total revenues of P1.72 billion during the same
period in 2015. The increase in revenues consisted of P120 million growth in combined keno and
lotto equipment rental revenue and a P49 million net increase in distribution income due to higher
instant scratch ticket sales nationwide. The Company’s total costs and operating expenses for the year
2016, increased by P77.7 million or 6 percent over P1.21 billion in 2015. The increase is attributable
mainly to Keno costs and operating expenses that grew by about 19 per cent from last year since keno
terminal installations reached 2,020 from 1,770 by end of 2016. The Company realized net income
after taxes of about P400 million, which translates to a 16 percent growth over prior year’s net income
of P345 million. For the year 2016, the Keno business unit contributed 55 percent to the consolidated
net income, while the Lotto business was at 27 per cent. The remaining 18 percent net income share is
from the instant ticket distribution business combined with the retail network business.
The Company has sustained a strong financial position and favorable earnings performance over the
years, as can be drawn from its key performance indicators below:
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CORPORATE STRUCTURE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The principal roles of the Board of Directors of Pacific Online are to oversee how management serves
the interests of the shareholders and other stakeholders, and to ensure that the latter are adequately
and timely informed of all relevant information about the Company. Towards this end, the Board has
adopted corporate governance principles to ensure its independence and keep itself fully-informed of
the key risks and strategic issues facing Pacific Online.
The regular meetings of the Board of Directors are set once every quarter, although special meetings
may be called by the Chairman as the need arises. Pursuant to the Company’s Manual on Corporate
Governance, a director’s failure to attend at least 50% of the regular and special meetings of the Board
of Directors may disqualify him from re-election during the succeeding year. In 2016, all of the members
of the Board of Directors complied with the minimum attendance requirements.

Note: *
**
***

Resigned 05 July 2016,
Resigned 21 July 2016
Elected on 21 July 2016

BOARD COMMITTEES
To assist the Board of Directors in ensuring compliance with good corporate governance principles, the
following committees have been formed:
Executive Committee
The Executive Committee exercises, in between meetings of the Board, all the powers of the Board
(except those powers expressly reserved by applicable law to the Board) in the management
and direction of the business and conduct of the affairs of the Company, subject to any specific
directions given by the Board.
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Audit Committee
The Audit Committee represents and assists the Company’s Board in discharging its responsibilities
with regard to financial reporting, external and internal audits and controls, including reviewing
Pacific Online’s quarterly and annual financial statements, considering the scope of the Company’s
annual external audit, approving the Company’s internal audit program, advising on the appointment
of external auditors, and reviewing the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control systems
and risk management systems.

Note: * Resigned 05 July 2016,

Risk Committee
The Risk Committee assists the Board in the performance of its oversight responsibility for the
financial reporting process, system of internal control, audit process, and monitoring of compliance
with applicable laws, rules and regulations; and provide oversight over Management’s activities in
managing credit, market, liquidity, operational, legal and other risks of the Company.

Note: * Resigned 05 July 2016,

Compensation and Remuneration Committee
The principal roles of the Compensation and Remuneration Committee are: (i) to consider and
determine all elements of the remuneration of the executive officers and of the heads of the operating
subsidiaries; and (ii) to determine targets for any performance-related pay schemes operated by
the Company. The Compensation and Remuneration Committee makes recommendations to the
Board in regard to all elements of the remuneration for the executives and the directors.

Legend: ED-Executive Director; ID-Independent Director; NED - Non Executive Director
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee is tasked to evaluate all nominees for election to the Board of
Directors, and make a determination that such nominees possess all the qualifications, and none
of the disqualifications, as prescribed by the Company’s Manual on Corporate Governance. The
Nominations Committee is responsible for reviewing, from time-to-time, the structure of Pacific
Online’s Board; and identifying, evaluating and recommending candidates for Board vacancies to
ensure there is a balanced Board in terms of skills, knowledge and experience.

MARKET DISCLOSURES
Pacific Online is committed to maintaining the highest standards of disclosure ensuring that all investors
and potential investors have the same access to high-quality, relevant information in an accessible and
timely manner to assist them in making informed decisions. The Company ensures compliance with
the market disclosure obligations prescribed by the Securities and Exchange Commission and the
Philippine Stock Exchange; and has implemented reporting processes and controls and set guidelines
for the release of information.
Full version of Pacific Online’s Revised Manual on Corporate Governance as well as other corporate
governance related policies are available to the public and can be downloaded through its website,
www.loto.com.ph
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• Willy N. Ocier - Chairman
• Frederic C. DyBuncio
• Carmelita dL. Chan*
• Laurito E. Serrano - Chairman (ID)
• Jerry C. Tiu (ID)
• Wilson L. Sy (ID)
• Carmelita dL. Chan*
• Tarcisio M. Medalla (NED)

• Wilson L. Sy - Chairman (ID)
• Laurito E. Serrano (ID)
• Jerry C. Tiu (ID)

• Laurito E. Serrano - Chairman (ID)
• Jerry C. Tiu (ID)
• Wilson L. Sy (ID)
• Carmelita dL. Chan*
• Tarcisio M. Medalla (NED)
• Jerry C. Tiu - Chairman (ID)
• Laurito E. Serrano (ID)
• Tarcisio M. Medalla (NED)

Note: *Resigned on July 5, 2016
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DIRECTORS’ PROFILE
Board of Directors

The present members of the Board of Directors (“BOD”) were elected during the annual stockholders’ meeting held on May 24, 2016. The term of the
current members of the BOD shall be until the next stockholders’ meeting on May 31, 2017. The following are the incumbent members of the Board of
Directors (“BOD”) of the Company:

Willy N. Ocier, Filipino, 60, is the Chairman and President of the company and a Director since July 29, 1999. He is a Co Vice-Chairman of Belle Corporation
and serves as the Vice Chairman of Highlands Prime, Inc. and Tagaytay Highlands International Golf Club, Inc. He also serves as the Chairman of the
Board and Director of Premium Leisure Corp. as well as with APC Group, Inc., and Premium Leisure and Amusement, Inc. He is likewise the Chairman of
Tagaytay Midlands Golf Club, Inc., The Country Club at Tagaytay Highlands, Inc. and The Spa and Lodge Inc. He is a Director of Leisure and Resorts World
Corporation, IVantage Equities, and Toyota Corporation Batangas. He also serves as the Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and President of Philippine
Global Communications, Inc. He was the former President and Chief Operating Officer of Eastern Securities Development Corporation. He graduated from
Ateneo de Manila University with a Bachelor of Arts degree in Economics.

Frederic C. DyBuncio, Filipino, 57, is a Director of the company since May 23, 2012. He also serves as the President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
of Premium Leisure Corp, Belle Corporation and APC Group, Inc. He is the Vice Chairman of Atlas Consolidated Mining and Development Corporation
and has been its Director since August 2011. He is currently the Senior Vice President of Investments Portfolio of SM Investments Corporation. He holds a
Non-Executive Director position at Indophil Resources NL since 6 September 2012. He obtained his undergraduate degree in Business Management from
Ateneo de Manila University and his Master’s degree in Business Administration from the Asian Institute of Management.

Tarcisio M. Medalla, Filipino, 68, is a Director of the company since December 10, 2001. He is currently the Chairman and President of listed firm Paxys,
Inc. (formerly Fil-Hispano Holdings Corp.). He also serves as the Chairman of the Board of Advanced Contract Solutions, Inc. He is likewise a director
of NGL Pacific Limited, a privately-held investment company with an RHQ in Manila and affiliated with ACSH Ltd. He has been connected with NGL
since 1983. He graduated with a Bachelor of Science degree in Commerce (Major in Accounting) from De La Salle University. He attended the Advanced
Management Program (AMP) at Harvard School of BusiTness. Mr. Medalla is a Certified Public Accountant.

Henry N. Ocier, Filipino, 58, is a Director of the company since June 29, 2009. He serves as Assistant to the President of Belle Corporation. He is also the
Special Projects Director of Tagaytay Highlands International Golf Club, Inc. He previously held the position of General Manager of Guatson International
Travel and Tours, Inc. He graduated with a Bachelor of Science degree in Business Economics from De La Salle University.

Ms. Regina O. Reyes, Filipino, 52, elected as Director last July 21, 2016, is currently the President and Chief Executive Officer of listed firm, Abacore
Capital Holdings, Inc., and President of private company, Click Communications, Inc. She also served as Administrator of the Province of Marinduque
from January 2010 to January 2012. She was a member of the House of Representatives, representing the lone district of Marinduque, from 2013 to June
2016. In Congress, she was Vice Chairman of the Committee on National Defense and Security and was a member of several key committees, including
Appropriations, Justice, Health, and Natural Resources. Ms. Reyes earned her Foreign Service degree from Georgetown University, USA and her Bachelor
of Laws degree from the Ateneo de Manila University Law School. Ms. Reyes is a member of both the Philippine Bar and the State Bar of California.

Ma. Virginia V. Abo-Hamda, Filipino, 57, is a Director and Chief Financial Officer of the Company. She joined Pacific Online in September 2009 as
Vice President of Instant Tickets Division and was promoted as SVP for Corporate Planning & Business Development in 2013. Prior to this, she worked
as a Consultant for AB Leisure Exponent, Inc. (1999-2009), and AB Gaming & Leisure Specialist Inc. (2003-2009). Ms. Abo-Hamda served as General
Accounting Manager for D’Agostino Supermarkets, Inc. New York, USA from 1990 to 1996 and as Senior Financial Analyst for Kraft-General Foods
International, New York, USA from 1988 to 1989. She worked with Carlos J. Valdes & Co., CPAs from 1981 to 1986, in its Management Services Division
as an Associate Consultant. She graduated Summa Cum Laude with a Bachelor of Science degree in Commerce (Major in Accounting) from College of the
Holy Spirit. Ms. Abo-Hamda passed the CPA board exams in 1980. She earned her Master’s degree in Business Administration (Concentration in Finance)
from Fordham University, New York, USA.
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Independent Directors

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 38 of the SRC, the Company’s Board of Directors and stockholders approved the amendment of the Company’s
By-Laws adopting the requirement on the nomination and election of independent directors. In line with this, the Board of Directors has elected Messrs.
Laurito E. Serrano, Jerry C. Tiu, and Wilson L. Sy as the Company’s independent directors.

Laurito E. Serrano, Filipino, 56, is a Director of the company since May 23, 2014. Mr. Serrano currently serves as independent director and Chairman
of the Audit and Risk Management Committee of Atlas Consolidated Mining and Development Corporation. He also serves as a Director and a member
of the Corporate Governance and Audit Committee of the Philippine Veterans Bank. He is likewise an Independent Director of the APC Group, Inc. and
Travellers International Hotel Group. He is currently a Director of MRT Development Corporation. Mr. Serrano was a former partner of the Corporate
Finance Consulting Group of SGV & Co. He is a Certified Public Accountant with a Master’s degree in Business Administration from Harvard Graduate
School of Business. His area of specialization is Financial Advisory and Corporate Finance.

Jerry C. Tiu, Filipino, 60, is an Independent Director of the company since February 21, 2007. He is a Director and the President of Tagaytay Highlands
Community Condominium Association, Inc., Tagaytay Midlands Community Homeowners’ Association, Inc., and Greenlands Community Homeowners’
Association, Inc. He is likewise the President of the following companies: Tagaytay Highlands International Golf club, Inc., The Country Club at Tagaytay
Highlands, Inc., Tagaytay Midlands Golf Club, Inc., and The Spa & Lodge at Tagaytay Highlands, Inc. He is the Chairman of the Board of Mega Magazine
Publishing, Inc. and a former Director of the Manila Polo Club. He holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Commerce (Major in Marketing) from University
of British Columbia.

Wilson L. Sy, Filipino, 64, is an Independent Director of the company since June 23, 2011. He is the Vice-Chairman and a Director of Asian Alliance
Holdings Corp. He also serves as a Director of the following companies: Xcell Property Ventures, Inc., Monte Oro Resources & Energy, Inc., Monte Oro
Grid Resources Corp., Vantage Equities Inc., and Leisure & Resorts World Corp. He served as Chairman of the Board of the Phil. Stock Exchange, Inc.
and Manila Stock Exchange, Inc. He is a Management Engineering graduate from Ateneo de Manila University.

Corporate Secretaries
Atty. A. Bayani K. Tan, Filipino, 61, has been the Corporate Secretary of the corporation since May 2007. He is currently a Director, Corporate Secretary
or both of the following companies: Asia United Bank, Coal Asia Holdings, Inc., Destiny Financial Plans, Inc., Discovery World Corporation, First Abacus
Financial Holdings Corp., I-Remit, Inc., Philequity Balanced Fund, Inc., Philequity Dollar Income Fund, Inc., Philequity Dividend Yield Fund, Inc., Philequity
Foreign Currency Fixed Income Fund, Inc., Philequity Fund, Inc., Philequity Peso Bond Fund, Inc., Philequity PSE Index Fund, Inc., Philequity Resources
Fund, Inc., Philequity Strategic Growth Fund, Inc., Tagaytay Highlands International Golf Club, Inc., Tagaytay Midlands Golf Club, Inc., The Country Club
at Tagaytay Highlands, Inc., The Spa and Lodge at Tagaytay Highlands, Inc., TKC Steel Corporation, Vantage Equities, Inc. and Yehey! Corporation.
Atty. Tan is also the Corporate Secretary of Sterling Bank of Asia Inc. since December 2006. He is likewise the Managing Partner of the law offices of
Tan Venturanza Valdez and Managing Director/President of Shamrock Development Corporation. He also serves as Director of Destiny LendFund, Inc.,
and Pascual Laboratories, Inc. He is also President of Catarman Chamber Elementary School Foundation, Inc. and serves as a Managing Trustee of
SCTan Foundation, Inc., Trustee and Treasurer of Rebisco Foundation, Inc. and Trustee and Corporate Secretary of St. Scholastica’s Hospital, Inc. He is
currently the legal counsel of Xavier School, Inc. Atty. Tan holds a Master of Laws degree from New York University USA (Class of 1988) and earned his
Bachelor of Laws degree from the University of the Philippines (Class of 1980) where he was a member of the Order of the Purple Feather (U.P. College
of Law Honor Society) and ranked ninth in his class. Atty. Tan passed the bar examinations in 1981 where he placed sixth. He has a Bachelor of Arts major
in Political Science degree from San Beda College (Class of 1976) where he graduated Class Valedictorian and was awarded the medal for Academic
Excellence.

Atty. Jason C. Nalupta, Filipino, 44, is the Assistant Corporate Secretary of the corporation since October 2009. He is also currently the Corporate Secretary
of listed firm A Brown Company, Inc. He serves as Director and/or Corporate Secretary or Assistant Corporate Secretary of Lucky Circle Corporation,
Loto Pacific Leisure Corporation, Total Gaming Technologies, Inc., Basic Leisure and Gaming Networks, Inc., Innovative Solutions Consultancy Group
Corporation, Powerball Gaming and Entertainment Corporation, and Stage Craft International, Inc. Atty. Nalupta is a member of the Philippine Bar and
holds a Juris Doctor degree and a Bachelor of Science in Management degree (Major in Legal Management) from Ateneo de Manila University.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

MANAGEMENT TEAM
Ma. Concepcion T. Sangil

Human Resources Management Head

Ma. Virginia V. Abo-Hamda
Chief Financial Officer
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Mischel Gabrielle O. Mendoza
Administration Head

Carmelita dL. Chan
Online Lottery Head

Romeo J. Roque Jr.
Agent Management

Christopher C. Villaflor
Central Systems & Network
Management

Valentino L. Kintanar
Technical Services

Antonio P. Reyes

Chief Operating Officer
Total Gaming Technologies Inc.

Lucila A. Taguba

Vice President
Loto Pacific Leisure Corp.

Atty. Jason C. Nalupta
Assistant Corporate Secretary

Atty. A. Bayani K. Tan
Corporate Secretary
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SOCIAL
RESPONSIBILITY

To Our Communities

Gift Giving and Feeding Program
Pasig City

Medical & Dental Mission
Brgy. Pasong Tamo, Q.C

PWD Housekeeping Training Program
Rotary Club of San Juan Central

Blood Letting w/ Phil. Red Cross
Manila & Cebu

Tree Planting w/ DENR
Mabini, Cebu City
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Tree Planting
La Mesa Nature Reserve
Quezon City

5S Training Workshop
Pasig City

Service Awarding
Cebu City

Job Evaluation Workshop
Pasig City

Safety Driving Seminar
Pasig City

Spiritual Deepening
Tagaytay Highlands

SOCIAL
RESPONSIBILITY

To Our Employees
Lunch and Learn Session
Cebu & Manila
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF
OPERATING PERFORMANCE
Results of Operations and Financial Condition

-

Entertainment, amusement and recreation expense decreased by P3.4
million (16%) due to lower business representation expenses incurred
in 2016;

-

Impairment losses on receivables decreased by P8.6 million (100%) as
provision for uncollectible receivables was reduced;

2016 Compared to 2015
The Company generated total revenues from operating sources of about
P1.89 billion for the year ended December 31, 2016, an increase of P169.8
million (10%) over total revenues of P1.72 billion during the same period in
2015. The increase in revenue was due to increase in keno sales resulting
from additional roll-out of keno terminals and due to higher scratch ticket sales
nationwide due to increased customer awareness.
The Company’s total operating expenses, including depreciation and
amortization, for the year ended December 31, 2016 increased by P77.7
million (6%) to P1.29 billion, from P1.21 billion in 2015. The increase is
attributed to the following:
-

-

-

-

Depreciation and amortization charges increased by P53.8 million
(46%) due to depreciation of new lottery machines and equipment and
other fixed assets acquired in 2015;
Rent and utilities increased by P4.0 million (6%) due to additional
facilities leased for keno operations and rental rate escalation of
existing leased premises;

Other income (net of other charges) decreased by P20.5 million in 2016 from
P6.4 million in 2015, mainly due to lower gain on sale of marketable securities
of P7.4 million , lower dividend income of P5.4 million received in 2016,
decrease in excess input tax of P13.5 million in 2016, and offset by P6.3million
improvement on mark to market loss on marketable securities.
In 2016, a fair value gain on investment in shares of stock of P208.8 million
was posted, which resulted in a total net comprehensive income of P607.7
million for 2016 versus P48.7 million total net comprehensive loss in 2015.
Total assets of the Company increased by P216.1 million (10%) to P2.4
billion as of December 31, 2016, from P2.2 billion as of December 31, 2015.
Increases in assets are attributable to the following:
-

Trade and other receivables increased by P129.8 million (36%) due
to higher receivable from PCSO and receivables from instant tickets
distribution, resulting from higher lottery sales;

Communication increased by P5.8 million (6%) due to additional
communication links for both lotto and keno;

-

Other current assets increased by P12.9 million (11%) due to higher
inventories of lottery consumables and prepaid taxes;

Management fees increased by P8.5 million (15%) due to the increase
in earnings before tax, which is the basis of the fees;

-

Investments in stocks increased by P234.1 million (49%) due to
additional purchases of stocks and the fair value gain amounting to
P208.8 million.

-

Repairs and maintenance increased by P5.1 million (11%) due to
renovation and repairs of facilities;

-

Professional fees increased by P1.4 million (9%) due to additional
lawyers’ fees incurred;

The increases in assets above were offset by the following decreases:

-

-

Marketable securities decreased by P60.8 million (27%) due to sale of
some marketable securities and the unrealized mark-to-market loss
amounting to P37.0 million;

-

Property and equipment decreased by P65.6 million (12%) due to
higher depreciation expense for the year;

-

Deferred tax assets decreased by P27.6 million (65%) due to utilization
of deferred income taxes offset against income tax payable;

-

Other noncurrent assets decreased by P3.1 million (6%) due to
collection of escrow account.

Operating supplies increased by P20.9 million (12%), due mainly to
higher keno consumables, resulting from higher keno sales;

The increases accounted for in the foregoing expense accounts were offset
mainly by the combined decreases of the following expense accounts:
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-

Consultancy fees decreased by P10.3 million (15%) due to termination
of one consultancy agreement;

-

Travel and accommodation decreased by P8.2 million (10%) due to
less business trips;

-

Advertising and promotion decreased by P2.1 million (14%) due to
lower marketing expenses for scratch tickets;

Total current liabilities increased by P41.0 million (12%) from P353.8 million
in 2015 to P394.9 million in 2016 due to withholding taxes payable on cash
dividends declared and higher income taxes payable resulting from higher
taxable income for the year 2016.

2015 Compared to 2014

As of December 31, 2016, the Company has :
a) No known trends or any demands, commitments, events or uncertainties
that will result in or that are likely to result in the liquidity increasing or
decreasing in any material way;
b) No events that will trigger direct or contingent financial obligation that
is material to the company, including any default or acceleration of an
obligation;
c) No material off-balance sheet transactions, arrangements, obligations
(including contingent obligations), and other relationships with
unconsolidated entities or other persons created during the reporting
period; and
d) Not breached any loans, leases or other indebtedness or financing
agreement.

The Company generated total revenues from operating sources of about
P1.72 billion for the year ended December 31, 2015, a decrease of P12.8
million (1%) over total revenues of P1.73 billion during the same period in 2014.
This decrease was mainly due to reclassification of distribution expenses to
the gross revenues from instant ticket distribution effective April 2015, when
the instant ticket operations were outsourced to PGEC. Starting April 1, 2015
only the net income from instant ticket distribution was reflected versus the full
year gross revenues reflected in 2014.
The Company’s total operating expenses, including depreciation and
amortization, for the year ended December 31, 2015 decreased by P6.0
million (.5%) to P1.21 billion, from P1.22 billion in 2014. The decrease is
attributed to the following:
-

Depreciation and amortization charges decreased by P34.2 million
(23%) as a result of the extended useful life of the online lottery
equipment until July 31, 2018, to align with the extended term of the
Equipment Lease Agreement with PCSO;

-

Consultancy fees decreased by P16.9 million (20%) due to lower fee
arrangements based on sales and termination of one consultancy
agreement.

-

Advertising and promotion decreased by P48.2 million (76%) mainly
due to reduced marketing and promotional campaigns for instant
scratch tickets with the outsourcing arrangement with Powerball.

Key Performance Indicators
The Company monitors its performance and benchmarks itself to prior year’s
results in terms of the following indicators:
As of
Dec 31, 2016

Dec 31, 2015

Current Ratio

2.65 : 1.00

2.74 : 1.00

Debt-to-Equity Ratio
Asset-to-Equity Ratio

0.24 : 1.00
1.24 : 1.00

0.26 : 1.00
1.26 : 1.00

For the year ended
Dec 31, 2016
Dec 31, 2015
Current Ratio
Debt-to-Equity Ratio
Asset-to-Equity Ratio
Solvency Ratio

20.42%

19.62%

16.50%
46.77 : 1.00

15.61%
48.04 : 1.00

1.22 : 1.00

1.02 : 1.00

The above performance indicators are calculated as follows:
Current Ratio		
			

The decreases accounted for in the foregoing expense accounts were offset
mainly by the combined increases of the following expense accounts:
-

Personnel costs increased by P21.8 (12%) mainly due to increase
in number of personnel and increase in compensation and other
personnel costs.

-

Management fees increased by P8.2 million (17%) due to the increase
in earnings before tax, which is the basis for said fees.
Taxes and licenses increased by P18.7 million (106%) due to higher
business and other taxes paid.

Current Assets
Current Liabilities

-

Debt to Equity Ratio		
				

Total Liabilities
Total Equity

-

Software and license fees increased by P14.5 million (9%) due to
higher minimum base rates by software provider.

Asset-to-equity Ratio		
				

Total Assets
Total Equity

-

Professional fees increased by P9.5 million (149%) due additional
consultants hired for the support systems.

Return on Stockholder’s Equity
				

Net Income
Total Equity

-

Entertainment, amusement, and recreation increased by P1.9 million
(10%) because of higher incidental business expenses incurred with
development projects.

-

Operating supplies increased by P9.5 million (6%) due to higher
consumption of Keno consumables resulting from higher lottery sales.

-

Impairment losses on receivables increased by P2.4 million (38%)
due to additional provision for some past-due accounts of LCC’s
customers.

Interest Coverage Ratio
				

Income Before Interest & Tax
Interest Expense

Solvency Ratio
				

Net Income + Depreciation
Total Liabilities
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-

Other expenses increased by P8.1 million (45%) due to relocation
costs of retail outlets incurred by LCC in compliance with the malls’
rezoning requirements

-

Other income (net of other charges) decreased to P17.9 million in
2015 from P24.3 million in 2014, mainly due to mark-to-market loss on
marketable securities of P43.5 million in 2015.

In 2015, a loss on sale of investment in stocks of P400 million was posted,
which resulted in a total net comprehensive unrealized loss of P48.7 million for
2015 versus P359.5 million total comprehensive income in 2014. Furthermore,
in 2014, there was a gain on sale of marketable securities and investments
in stocks amounting to P80.2 million plus a mark-to-market gain of P112.9
million in 2014, that was reduced by the non-recurring expense of P217.4
million resulting from the acquisition of the Falcon Resources Inc. shares.
Total assets of the Company decreased by P140.4 million (6%) to P 2.2 billion
as of December 31, 2015, from P 2.4 billion as of December 31, 2014.
-

Cash and cash equivalents as of December 31, 2015 decreased by
P 200.5 million (43%) due to payment of cash dividends, purchase of
investments in stocks and lottery equipment.

-

Marketable securities decreased by P 519.9 million (69%) principally
due to reclassification to investments in stocks amounting to P483.8
million and the mark-to-market loss amounting to P43.5.

-

The trade and other receivables decreased by P77.2 million (17%)
due to faster turnover of receivables from instant scratch tickets sub
distributors of the Company.

Asset-to-equity Ratio		
				

Total Assets
Total Equity

Return on Stockholder’s Equity
				

Net Income
Total Equity

Interest Coverage Ratio
				

Income Before Interest & Tax
Interest Expense

Solvency Ratio
				

Net Income + Depreciation
Total Liabilities

As of yearend 2015, the Company has:
a) No known trends or any demands, commitments, events or
uncertainties that will result in or that are likely to result in the liquidity
increasing or decreasing in any material way;
b) No events that will trigger direct or contingent financial obligation that
is material to the company, including any default or acceleration of an
obligation;
c) No material off-balance sheet transactions, arrangements, obligations
(including contingent obligations), and other relationships with
unconsolidated entities or other persons created during the reporting
period; and
d) Not breached any loans, leases or other indebtedness or financing
agreement.
2014 Compared to 2013

Total current liabilities decreased by P104.6 million (26%) from P 458.5 million
in 2014 to P353.8 million in 2015 mainly due to lower trade payables and
payment of various maturing obligations.
Key Performance Indicators
The Company monitors its performance and benchmarks itself to prior year’s
results in terms of the following indicators:
As of
Dec 31, 2015

Dec 31, 2014

Current Ratio

2.74 : 1.00

3.86 : 1.00

Debt-to-Equity Ratio
Asset-to-Equity Ratio

0.26 : 1.00
1.26 : 1.00

0.31 : 1.00
1.31 : 1.00

Debt-to-Equity Ratio
Asset-to-Equity Ratio
Solvency Ratio

The Company’s total operating expenses, including depreciation and
amortization, for the year ended December 31, 2014 decreased by P1.3
million (.10%) to P1.22 billion, from P1.22 billion in 2013. The decrease is
attributed to the following:
-

Operating supplies decreased by P 49.1 million (23%) due to lower
consumption of Lotto and Keno consumables nationwide.

-

Personnel costs decreased by P9.6 million (5%) mainly due to decrease
in manpower complement.

-

Consultancy and software license fees decreased by P15.6 million
(6%) due to lower fee arrangements based on sales and termination of
one consultancy agreement.

Current Assets
Current Liabilities

-

Management fees decreased by P7.0 million (13%) due to the decrease
in earnings before tax.

Total Liabilities
Total Equity

-

Professional fees decreased by P3.6 million (36%) due to lower legal
fees incurred.

For the year ended
Dec 31, 2015
Dec 31, 2014
Current Ratio

The Company generated total revenues from operating sources of about
P1.73 billion for the year ended December 31, 2014, an increase of P84.9
million (5%) over total revenues of P1.65 billion during the same period in
2013. This increase was mainly due to increases in terminals deployed for
both Lotto and Keno.

19.62%

20.38%

15.61%
48.03 : 1.00

15.59%
57.60 : 1.00

1.02 : 1.00

0.94 : 1.00

The above performance indicators are calculated as follows:
Current Ratio		
			
Debt to Equity Ratio		
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-

Rent and utilities decreased by P1.0 million (2%) mainly due to reduced
number of outlets being rented.

-

Other expenses decreased by P1.5 million (8%) due to lower incidental
operating expenses.

-

Total current liabilities decreased by P81.9 million from P 540.5 million in 2013
to P458.6 million in 2014 mainly due to lower trade payables and payment of
various maturing obligations.
As of yearend 2014, the Company has:

Other income (net of other charges) decreased to P1.9 million in 2014
from P9.6 million in 2013, mainly due to the non-recurring cost related
to acquisition of shares of P217.4 million.

a) No known trends or any demands, commitments, events or
uncertainties that will result in or that are likely to result in the liquidity
increasing or decreasing in any material way;

The decreases accounted for in the foregoing expense accounts were offset
mainly by the combined increases of the following expense accounts:

b) No events that will trigger direct or contingent financial obligation that
is material to the company, including any default or acceleration of an
obligation;

-

Communication costs increased by P13.3 million (14%) due to
additional communication links relative to operations of Lotto and
Keno.

-

Repairs and maintenance increased by P8.1 million (20%) due to
higher utilization of terminal spare parts.

-

Entertainment, amusement, and recreation increased by P0.5 million
(3%) because of higher incidental business expenses incurred.

-

Depreciation and amortization charges increased by P21.6 million
(17%) mainly due to the increased number of terminals deployed and
depreciation of additional fixed assets.

c) No material off-balance sheet transactions, arrangements, obligations
(including contingent obligations), and other relationships with
unconsolidated entities or other persons created during the reporting
period; and
d) Not breached any loans, leases or other indebtedness or financing
agreement.
Key Performance Indicators

-

Travel and accommodation increased by P8.6 million (12%) due to
higher business activities nationwide.

-

Advertising and promotion increased by P27.7 million (77%) mainly due
to due to marketing and promotional campaigns for instant scratch
tickets.

-

Taxes and licenses increased by P0.7 million (4%) due to higher
business taxes paid.

-

Impairment losses on receivables increased by P3.1 million (99%) due
to additional provision for some past-due accounts.

As a result of the above developments, the Company realized net income of
P 366.5 million for the year ended December 31,2014, an increase of P 41.5
million (13%) from net income of P 325.0 million posted in 2013.
Total assets of the Company increased by P 284.0 million (14%) to P 2.4 billion
as of December 31, 2014, from P 2.1 billion as of December 31, 2013.
-

-

-

The Company monitors its performance and benchmarks itself to prior year’s
results in terms of the following indicators:

Cash and cash equivalents as of December 31, 2014 increased by P
19.4 million due to sale of AFS financial assets and some marketable
securities.
Marketable securities increased by P 211.0 million principally due to
acquisitions of additional securities which constitute the Company’s
stock investment portfolio.
The trade and other receivables increased by P113.8 million due to
higher receivables from PCSO representing ELA share both for Lotto
and Keno and from instant scratch tickets distribution of the Company.

As of
Dec 31, 2014

Dec 31, 2013

Current Ratio

3.86 : 1.00

2.58 : 1.00

Debt-to-Equity Ratio
Asset-to-Equity Ratio

0.31 : 1.00
1.31 : 1.00

0.43 : 1.00
1.43 : 1.00

For the year ended
Dec 31, 2014
Dec 31, 2013
Current Ratio
Debt-to-Equity Ratio
Asset-to-Equity Ratio
Solvency Ratio

20.38%

22.48%

15.59%
57.60 : 1.00

23.30%
56.77 : 1.00

0.94 : 1.00

0.73 : 1.00

The above performance indicators are calculated as follows:
Current Ratio		
			

Current Assets
Current Liabilities

Debt to Equity Ratio		
				

Total Liabilities
Total Equity

Asset-to-equity Ratio		
				

Total Assets
Total Equity

Return on Stockholder’s Equity
				

Net Income
Total Equity

Interest Coverage Ratio
				

Income Before Interest & Tax
Interest Expense

Solvency Ratio
				

Net Income + Depreciation
Total Liabilities
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STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT’S
RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The management of Pacific Online Systems Corporation and Subsidiaries (the “Group”) is responsible
for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements including the schedules
attached therein, for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, in accordance with the prescribed
financial reporting framework indicated therein, and for such internal control as management determines
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free form material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or
to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
The Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
The Board of Directors reviews and approves the consolidated financial statements including the schedules
attached therein, and submits the same to the stockholders.
R. G. Manabat & Co., the independent auditor appointed by the stockholders, has audited the consolidated
financial statements of the Group in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing, and in its report to
the stockholders, has expressed its opinion on the fairness of presentation upon completion of such audit.

WILLY N OCIER
President and Chairman of the Board

MA. VIRGINIA V. ABO-HAMDA
Chief Financial Officer
Signed this 23rd day of February 2017
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Pacific Online Systems Corporation and Subsidiaries
28th Floor, East Tower, Philippine Stock Exchange Centre
Exchange Road, Ortigas Center
Pasig City, Metro Manila

Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Pacific Online Systems Corporation and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”), which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2016 and 2015, and
the consolidated statements of comprehensive income, consolidated statements of changes in equity and consolidated
statements of cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2016, and notes, comprising
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated
financial position of the Group as at December 31, 2016 and 2015, and its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2016, in accordance with
Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRSs).
Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audits in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing (PSAs). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants in the Philippines (Code of Ethics) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit
of the consolidated financial statements in the Philippines, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements and the Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Key Audit Matter
Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional judgment, was of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. This matter was addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated
financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on this
matter.
Impairment of Goodwill
Refer to Notes 4 and 13 to the consolidated financial statements.
The risk
As at December 31, 2016, the Group has goodwill amounting to P110.9 million relating to the acquisition of Falcon
Resources, Inc.
Under PFRS, the Group is required to annually test goodwill for impairment. This assessment requires the exercise
of significant judgment about future market conditions, including growth rates and discount rates, particularly
those affecting the business of Falcon Resources, Inc. The key assumptions and uncertainties to the impairment
test are disclosed in Notes 4 and 13 to the consolidated financial statements.
Goodwill would be impaired where its recoverable amount has fallen below its carrying value. We consider the
impairment of goodwill to be a significant audit risk because of the inherent uncertainty involved in forecasting and
discounting future cash flows, which are the basis of the assessment of recoverability.
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Our response
Our audit procedures included, among others, obtaining the Group’s discounted cash flow model that tests
the carrying value of goodwill, and we focused on evaluating the reasonableness of key assumptions used by
management in conducting the impairment review. These procedures included using our own internal valuation
specialists to evaluate the key inputs and assumptions for growth and discount rate; reviewing the cash flows
used, with comparison to recent performance, trend analysis and market expectations, and by reference to prior
year’s forecast, where relevant, assessing whether the Group has achieved them.
Other Information
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the
SEC Form 20-IS (Definitive Information Statement), SEC Form 17-A and Annual Report for the year ended December
31, 2016, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon. The SEC Form
20-IS (Definitive Information Statement), SEC Form 17-A and Annual Report for the year ended December 31, 2016 are
expected to be made available to us after the date of this auditors’ report.
Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we will not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audits of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audits or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated.
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial
Statements.
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in
accordance with PFRSs, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic
alternative but to do so.
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
PSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with PSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and per form audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
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• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by management.
• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the
direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
From the matter communicated with those charged with governance, we determine this matter that was of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and is therefore the key audit
matter. We describe this matter in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits
of such communication.
The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditors’ report is Dindo Marco M. Dioso.
R.G. MANABAT & CO.
DINDO MARCO M. DIOSO
Partner
CPA License No. 0095177
SEC Accreditation No. 1387-A, Group A, valid until April 30, 2017
Tax Identification No. 912-365-765
BIR Accreditation No. 08-001987-30-2016
Issued October 18, 2016; valid until October 17, 2019
PTR No. 5904925MD
Issued January 3, 2017 at Makati City
February 23, 2017
Makati City, Metro Manila
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FOR THE YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31,2016, 2015, 2014

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY

PACIFIC ONLINE SYSTEMS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

PACIFIC ONLINE SYSTEMS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. Reporting Entity
Corporate Information
Pacific Online Systems Corporation (“Pacific Online” or “Parent Company”) was incorporated in the
Philippines and registered with the Philippine Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) on November
6, 1993. The Parent Company’s registered office address is at 28th Floor, East Tower, Philippine Stock
Exchange Centre, Exchange Road, Ortigas Center, Pasig City, Metro Manila. The accompanying
consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Parent Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”). The following subsidiaries are incorporated in the
Philippines and registered with SEC:

Pacific Online
The Parent Company is a public company under Section 17.2 of the Securities Regulation Code (SRC)
and its shares are listed on the Philippine Stock Exchange, Inc. (PSE) starting on April 12, 2007. The
Parent Company is engaged in the development, design and management of online computer systems,
terminals and software for the gaming industry. The Parent Company can also engage in any lawful
arrangement for sharing profits, union of interest, unitization or formal agreement, reciprocal concession,
or cooperation with any corporation, association, partnership, syndicate, entity, person or governmental,
municipal or public authority, domestic or foreign.
TGTI
TGTI was incorporated and registered with SEC on October 23, 2002. The primary purpose of the
TGTI is to lease gaming equipment and provide consultancy services relative to on-line gaming to those
engaged in gaming business, non-profit institutions, and other entities.
LotoPac
LotoPac was incorporated in March 2007, primarily to acquire, establish, own, hold, lease, sell, conduct,
operate, and manage amusement, recreational and gaming equipment facilities, and enterprise of
every kind and nature, as well as places for exhibitions, recreation, gaming, amusement and leisure
of the general public, and to acquire, hold and operate any and all privileges, rights, franchises and
concessions as may be proper, necessary, advantageous, or convenient in the conduct of its business.
LotoPac acquired LCC in August 2007.
LCC
LCC was incorporated and registered with SEC on December 8, 1998 to engage in the business of
trading and selling of goods such as sweepstakes tickets, tickets of shows and concerts, and such
other number games, including but not limited to those introduced by PCSO. LCC is an authorized
agent of PCSO to operate several online lottery betting stations located in major branches of shopping
malls like SM Supermalls, Robinsons and Gaisano, nationwide. LCC, as PCSO agent, earns a certain
percentage of the sales of lotto, keno, sweepstakes and instant scratch tickets (Note 2).
FRI
FRI was incorporated primarily to engage in real estate business and act as managers, agents or
administrators of corporations. It is a sub-distributor of instant scratch tickets for the Parent Company
and Powerball Gaming and Entertainment Corporation (PGEC). FRI has an established distribution
network for instant scratch tickets in Mindanao and parts of Visayas and Luzon

2. Agreements with PCSO
PCSO is the “principal government agency for raising and providing funds for health programs, medical
assistance and services, and charities of national character.” It generates funds for its programs by
holding and conducting charity sweepstakes, races and lotteries.
Parent Company
Equipment Lease Agreement (ELA). The Parent Company has an ELA with PCSO for a period of eight
years from April 1, 2005 to March 31, 2013. This covers the lease of not less than 800 lotto terminals
for PCSO’s lotto operations in Visayas and Mindanao (VISMIN). The lease includes central computer,
communications equipment and the right to use the application software and manuals for the central
computer system and draw equipment of PCSO.
2012 Amended ELA. On May 22, 2012, the ELA was amended to include the lease of lotto terminals in
some of PCSO’s lottery operations in Luzon which resulted in the reduction of the fees. The amendment
also includes supplying betting slips and ticket paper rolls to PCSO, incorporating maintenance and
repair services as part of the fees, and giving the Company an option to purchase the lotto equipment
in VISMIN for P15 million at the end of the lease term.
2013 Amended ELA. On March 26, 2013, the ELA was further amended to extend the term from March
31, 2013 to July 31, 2015. In lieu of the PCSO option to purchase the equipment, the Parent Company
agreed to reduce the fees for VISMIN and shoulder the cost of betting slips and ticket paper rolls for
Luzon and VISMIN.
2015 Amended ELA. On July 15, 2015, the ELA was again amended to extend the term from August
1, 2015 to July 31, 2018. The amendment also required the Parent Company to deposit an additional
P5 million cash bond to guarantee the unhampered use and operation of the lottery system, including
equipment, servers, network communication and terminals. The additional cash bond is included under
“Other noncurrent assets” in the consolidated statements of financial position.
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The fees, presented as “Equipment rental” in the consolidated statements of income, are based on a
percentage of gross sales of lotto terminals or a fixed annual rental of P35,000 per terminal in commercial
operation, whichever is higher. The number of installed lotto terminals totaled 4,157 and 4,088 as
at December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. The Parent Company’s equipment rental revenue
amounted to P931.8 million, P937.1 million, and P958.2 million in 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively
(Note 19). The related receivables from PCSO, included under “Trade and other receivables” account
in the consolidated statements of financial position, amounted to P88.3 million and P84.1 million as at
December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively (Note 9).
Instant Scratch Tickets. On March 25, 2009, the Parent Company entered into a non-exclusive
Memorandum of Agreement (MOA) with PCSO for the printing, distribution and sale of scratch tickets
effective December 1, 2009 until December 1, 2016. The share of PCSO is guaranteed for 500 million
tickets to be sold over a period of seven years from the date of the MOA’s effectivity. The remaining
unpaid guaranteed share of PCSO amounting to P98.2 million as at December 31, 2015 was fully
settled as at December 31, 2016.
The MOA requires a cash bond to be deposited in an interest-bearing bank account designated by
PCSO to guarantee the payment of all prizes for each series of tickets distributed, subject to review
by PCSO for a period of seven years from the date of initial launch of the instant tickets and shall be
maintained co-terminus with this MOA. The interest accrues to the Parent Company and is credited to
a separate bank account. The P10 million cash bond is recognized under “Other noncurrent assets”
account in the consolidated statements of financial position.
On March 31, 2015, the Parent Company entered into an Outsourcing Memorandum of Agreement
(OMOA) with Powerball Gaming and Entertainment Corporation (PGEC) authorizing PGEC as the
exclusive marketing, distribution, selling and collecting agent of the Parent Company throughout the
Philippines. The agreement took effect on April 1, 2015 and shall remain effective as long as the MOA
with PCSO or any extension thereof shall be effective.
PGEC agreed to assume the Parent Company’s commitment to PCSO to solely shoulder the project
cost for the Instant Scratch Ticket program, which consists of the costs of production, distribution,
warehousing, printing, handling, software and hardware maintenance, advertising, marketing, selling
and other related expenses. PGEC is entitled to all the revenues, sums and proceeds from the Instant
Scratch Tickets beginning April 1, 2015, and shall be obligated to shoulder the pay-outs for all winnings
from said tickets sold beginning April 1, 2015. In consideration for the OMOA, PGEC agreed to pay the
Parent Company a guaranteed fixed monthly fee of P4 million starting April 2015. The fees included
as part of “Commission and distribution income” under “Revenues” in the consolidated statements of
income amounted to P48 million and P36 million in 2016 and 2015, respectively.
The Parent Company shall continue to pay the share of PCSO and the cash bond pursuant to the MOA.
However, PGEC agreed to guarantee payment of the share of PCSO to the Parent Company beginning
April 2015. An existing consultancy agreement between the Parent Company and PGEC for the scratch
ticket operations was immediately terminated upon execution of the OMOA.
The MOA with PCSO expired on November 30, 2016 and the Parent Company’s OMOA with PGEC also
expired accordingly. All tickets distributed to the retailers and agents, shall be allowed to be marketed
continuously until fully sold and the corresponding winnings thereof shall be honored and paid even after
the period of the MOA with PCSO.
TGTI Equipment Lease Agreement
2004 ELA. TGTI has an ELA with PCSO for a period of ten (10) years from the date of actual operation
of at least 150 online keno outlets to September 30, 2020. This covers PCSO’s online keno lottery
operations. The lease includes online keno equipment and accessories.
The fees, presented as “Equipment rental” in the consolidated statements of income, are based on
a percentage of the gross sales of the online keno terminals or a fixed annual rental of P40,000 per
terminal in commercial operation, whichever is higher. The ELA may be extended and/or renewed upon
the mutual consent of the parties.
2008 Amended ELA. On July 15, 2008, the ELA was amended wherein, TGTI shall provide the services
of telecommunications integrator and procurement of supplies for the online keno operations of PCSO
in Luzon and VISMIN areas. In consideration for such services, PCSO shall pay additional fee based on
a certain percentage of the gross sales from all online keno terminals in operation in Luzon and VISMIN
areas computed by PCSO and payable bi-weekly.

3. Basis of Preparation
Statement of Compliance
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in compliance with Philippine Financial
Reporting Standards (PFRSs). PFRSs are based on International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRSs) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). PFRSs which are issued by
the Philippine Financial Reporting Standards Council (FRSC), consist of PFRSs, Philippine Accounting
Standards (PASs), and Philippine Interpretations. The accompanying consolidated financial statements
were approved and authorized for issuance by the BOD on February 23, 2017.
Basis of Measurement
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for the
following:
•

marketable securities and investments in stocks are measured at fair value; and

•

defined benefit liability which is measured as the net total of the fair value of the plan assets and the
present value of the defined benefit obligation.

Functional and Presentation Currency
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Philippine peso (P or Php), which is the Group’s
functional currency. All financial information are rounded off to the nearest peso, except when otherwise
indicated.

•

Basis of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Parent Company and its
subsidiaries. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting year as the
Parent Company using consistent accounting policies.
A subsidiary is an entity controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to,
or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity. The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control.
When the Group has less than majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers
all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including the
contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee, rights arising from other contractual
arrangements and the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortization (Amendments to PAS
16 and PAS 38). The amendments to PAS 38 Intangible Assets introduce a rebuttable
presumption that the use of revenue-based amortization methods for intangible assets is
inappropriate. This presumption can be overcome only when revenue and the consumption
of the economic benefits of the intangible asset are ‘highly correlated’, or when the intangible
asset is expressed as a measure of revenue.
The amendments to PAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment explicitly state that revenue-based
methods of depreciation cannot be used for property, plant and equipment. This is because
such methods reflect factors other than the consumption of economic benefits embodied in
the asset - e.g. changes in sales volumes and prices.

•

PFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts. This permits first-time adopters of PFRSs to continue
using previous GAAP to account for regulatory deferral account balances. This standard
requires regulatory deferral account balances and movements therein to be presented as
separate line items on the face of the financial statements, distinguished from assets, liabilities,
income and expenses that are recognized in accordance with other PFRSs.

•

Annual Improvements to PFRSs 2012 - 2014 Cycle. This cycle of improvements contains
amendments to four standards. The following are the said improvements or amendments to
PFRSs, none of which has a significant effect on the consolidated financial statements of the
Group:

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from
the date when the Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date when such
control ceases.
The consolidated financial statements are prepared for the same reporting period as the Parent Company,
using uniform accounting policies for like transactions and other events in similar circumstances.
Intergroup balances and transactions, including intergroup unrealized profits and losses, are eliminated
in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

•

Changes in Method for Disposal (Amendment to PFRS 5). PFRS 5 is amended to clarify
that:

-

If an entity changes the method of disposal of an asset (or disposal group) - i.e. reclassifies
an asset (or disposal group) from held-for-distribution to owners to held-for-sale (or vice
versa) without any time lag - then the change in classification is considered a continuation
of the original plan of disposal and the entity continues to apply held-for-distribution
or held-for-sale accounting. At the time of the change in method, the entity measures
the carrying amount of the asset (or disposal group) and recognizes any write-down
(impairment loss) or subsequent increase in the fair value less costs to sell/distribute of
the asset (or disposal group); and

-

if an entity determines that an asset (or disposal group) no longer meets the criteria to
be classified as held-for-distribution, then it ceases held-for-distribution accounting in the
same way as it would cease held-for-sale accounting.

Non-controlling interests represent the portion of profit or loss and net assets not held by the Group
and are presented separately in the consolidated statements of income, consolidated statements of
other comprehensive income, consolidated statements of changes in equity and within equity in the
consolidated statements of financial position.
Non-controlling interests represent the interests not held by the Parent Company in TGTI.
A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction. If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, the Group: (i) derecognizes the assets (including
goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary, the carrying amount of any non-controlling interests and the
cumulative transaction differences recorded in equity; (ii) recognizes the fair value of the consideration
received, the fair value of any investment retained and any surplus or deficit in profit or loss; and, (iii)
reclassify the Parent Company’s share of components previously recognized in other comprehensive
income to profit or loss or retained earnings, as appropriate, as would be required if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

Any change in method of disposal or distribution does not, in itself, extend the period in
which a sale has to be completed.
•

“Continuing Involvement” for Servicing Contracts (Amendment to PFRS 7).
PFRS 7 is amended to clarify when servicing arrangements are in the scope of its disclosure
requirements on continuing involvement in transferred financial assets in cases when they
are derecognized in their entirety. A servicer is deemed to have continuing involvement if it
has an interest in the future performance of the transferred asset - e.g. if the servicing fee is
dependent on the amount or timing of the cash flows collected from the transferred financial
asset; however, the collection and remittance of cash flows from the transferred financial asset
to the transferee is not, in itself, sufficient to be considered ‘continuing involvement.

•

Offsetting Disclosures in Condensed Interim Financial Statements (Amendment to PFRS 7).
PFRS 7 is also amended to clarify that the additional disclosures required by Disclosures:
Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (Amendments to PFRS 7) are not specifically
required for inclusion in condensed interim financial statements for all interim periods; however,
they are required if the general requirements of PAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting require their
inclusion.

•

Discount rate in a regional market sharing the same currency - e.g. the Eurozone (Amendment
to PAS 19). The amendment to PAS 19 clarifies that high-quality corporate bonds or
government bonds used in determining the discount rate should be issued in the same
currency in which the benefits are to be paid. Consequently, the depth of the market for highquality corporate bonds should be assessed at the currency level and not at the country level.

•

Disclosure of information “elsewhere in the interim financial report’ (Amendment to PAS 34).
PAS 34 is amended to clarify that certain disclosures, if they are not included in the notes to
interim financial statements, may be disclosed “elsewhere in the interim financial report” - i.e.
incorporated by cross-reference from the interim financial statements to another part of the
interim financial report (e.g. management commentary or risk report). The interim financial
report is incomplete if the interim financial statements and any disclosure incorporated by
cross‑reference are not made available to users of the interim financial statements on the same
terms and at the same time.

4. Significant Accounting Policies
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all years presented in these
consolidated financial statements and have been applied consistently by the Group entities, except for
the changes in accounting policies as explained below.
Early Adoption of a New Standard
•

PFRS 9 Financial Instruments (2014) is effective for annual periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2018, with early adoption permitted. The Group adopted this standard early starting
January 1, 2015. The impact of the adoption of the standard to the consolidated financial
statements is presented and discussed in Note 11.
PFRS 9 (2014) replaces PAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and
supersedes the previously published versions of PFRS 9 that introduced new classifications
and measurement requirements (in 2009 and 2010) and a new hedge accounting model (in
2013). PFRS 9 includes revised guidance on the classification and measurement of financial
assets, including a new expected credit loss model for calculating impairment, guidance
on own credit risk on financial liabilities measured at fair value and supplements the new
general hedge accounting requirements published in 2013. PFRS 9 incorporates new hedge
accounting requirements that represent a major overhaul of hedge accounting and introduces
significant improvements by aligning the accounting more closely with risk management.
The basic principle in PFRS 9 is retrospective application in accordance with PAS 8, with
exemptions from full retrospective application for the classification and measurement
requirements and generally prospective application of the hedge accounting requirements.
For the classification of financial assets, an entity is permitted but not required to restate prior
periods when it adopts PFRS 9. If the entity does not restate prior periods, the difference
between the new valuation and old valuation at the date of initial application is recognized in
beginning retained earnings and transitional disclosure is required. The disclosure includes to
the extent practicable, the effect of adopting PFRS 9 on each financial statement line item and
on basic and diluted EPS, for the current period and each prior period presented.

Adoption of New or Revised Standards, Amendments to Standards and Interpretations
The Company (Group) has adopted the following amendments to standards starting January 1, 2016
and accordingly, changed its accounting policies. Except as otherwise indicated, the adoption of these
amendments to standards did not have any significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.
•

Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations (Amendments toPFRS 11). The
amendments require business combination accounting to be applied to acquisitions of
interests in a joint operation that constitutes a business. Business combination accounting
also applies to the acquisit ion of additional interests in a joint operation while the joint operator
retains joint control. The additional interest acquired will be measured at fair value. The
previously held interests in the joint operation will not be remeasured.
The amendments place the focus firmly on the definition of a business, because this is key
to determining whether the acquisition is accounted for as a business combination or as the
acquisition of a collection of assets. As a result, this places pressure on the judgment applied
in making this determination.

• Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception (Amendments to PFRS 10, PFRS 12 and
PAS 28) clarifies that:
•

A subsidiary that provides investment-related services should not be consolidated if the
subsidiary itself is an investment entity.

•

The exemption from preparing consolidated financial statements is available for an intermediate
held by an investment entity, even though the investment entity does not consolidate the
intermediate.

•

When applying the equity method to an associate or a joint venture, a non-investment entity
investor in an investment entity may retain the fair value measurement applied by the associate
or joint venture to its interests in subsidiaries.

• Disclosure Initiative (Amendments to PAS 1) addresses some concerns expressed about existing
presentation and disclosure requirements and to ensure that entities are able to use judgment when
applying PAS 1. The amendments clarify that:
•

Information should not be obscured by aggregating or by providing immaterial information.

•

Materiality considerations apply to all parts of the financial statements, even when a standard
requires a specific disclosure.

•

The list of line items to be presented in the statement of financial position and statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income can be disaggregated and aggregated as
relevant and additional guidance on subtotals in these statements.
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•

An entity’s share of OCI of equity-accounted associates and joint ventures should be presented
in aggregate as single line items based on whether or not it will subsequently be reclassified to
profit or loss.

Standards Issued but Not Yet Adopted
A number of new standards and amendments to standards are effective for annual periods beginning
after January 1, 2016. However, the Group has not applied the following new or amended standards in
preparing these consolidated financial statements. Unless otherwise stated, none of these are expected
to have a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
Effective January 1, 2017
•

Disclosure Initiative (Amendments to PAS 7). The amendments address financial statements
users’ requests for improved disclosures about an entity’s net debt relevant to understanding
an entity’s cash flows. The amendments require entities to provide disclosures that enable
users of financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing activities,
including both changes arising from cash flows and non-cash changes - e.g. by providing a
reconciliation between the opening and closing balances in the statement of financial position
for liabilities arising from financing activities.
The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2017. Early
adoption is permitted. When an entity first applies the amendments, it is not required to provide
comparative information for preceding periods.

•

Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealized Losses (Amendments to PAS 12). The
amendments clarify that:
•

the existence of a deductible temporary difference depends solely on a comparison of
the carrying amount of an asset and its tax base at the end of the reporting period, and
is not affected by possible future changes in the carrying amount or expected manner of
recovery of the asset;

•

the calculation of future taxable profit in evaluating whether sufficient taxable profit will
be available in future periods excludes tax deductions resulting from the reversal of the
deductible temporary differences;

•

the estimate of probable future taxable profit may include the recovery of some of an
entity’s assets for more than their carrying amount if there is sufficient evidence that it is
probable that the entity will achieve this; and

•

an entity assesses a deductible temporary difference related to unrealized losses
in combination with all of its other deductible temporary differences, unless a tax law
restricts the utilization of losses to deduction against income of a specific type.

amount to which the company expects to be entitled. Depending on whether certain criteria are met,
revenue is recognized over time, in a manner that best reflects the company’s performance, or at a
point in time, when control of the goods or services is transferred to the customer. The standard does
not apply to insurance contracts, financial instruments or lease contracts, which fall in the scope of
other PFRSs. It also does not apply if two companies in the same line of business exchange nonmonetary assets to facilitate sales to other parties. Furthermore, if a contract with a customer is partly
in the scope of another IFRS, then the guidance on separation and measurement contained in the
other PFRS takes precedence.
The new standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with early
adoption permitted. The Group is currently assessing the potential impact of PFRS 15 and plans to
adopt this new standard on revenue from contracts with customers on the required effective date.
• Transfers of Investment Property (Amendments to PAS 40) amends the requirements on when an
entity should transfer a property asset to, or from, investment property. A transfer is made when and
only when there is an actual change in use - i.e. an asset meets or ceases to meet the definition of
investment property and there is evidence of the change in use. A change in management intention
alone does not support a transfer.
The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with early
adoption permitted. An entity may apply the amendments to transfers that occur after the date of
initial application and also reassess the classification of property assets held at that date or apply the
amendments retrospectively, but only if it does not involve the use of hindsight.
• Philippine Interpretation IFRIC-22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration.
The amendments clarifies that the transaction date to be used for translation for foreign currency
transactions involving an advance payment or receipt is the date on which the entity initially recognizes
the prepayment or deferred income arising from the advance consideration. For transactions involving
multiple payments or receipts, each payment or receipt gives rise to a separate transaction date.
The interpretation applies when an entity pays or receives consideration in a foreign currency and
recognizes a non-monetary asset or liability before recognizing the related item.
The interpretation is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with early
adoption permitted.
• Annual Improvements to PFRSs 2014 - 2016 Cycle. This cycle of improvements contains amendments
to three standards. The following are the said improvements or amendments to PFRSs effective for
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, none of which has a significant effect on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group:
•

The amendments are to be applied retrospectively for annual periods beginning on or after January
1, 2017. Early adoption is permitted. On initial application, the change in the opening equity of the
earliest comparative period may be recognized in opening retained earnings (or in another component
of equity, as appropriate), without allocating the change between opening retained earnings and other
components of equity. If an entity applies the relief, it shall disclose that fact.

Measuring an Associate or Joint Venture at Fair Value (Amendments to PAS 28). The
amendments provide that a venture capital organization, or other qualifying entity, may elect to
measure its investments in an associate or joint venture at fair value through profit or loss. This
election can be made on an investment-by-investment basis. The amendments also provide
that a non-investment entity investor may elect to retain the fair value accounting applied by an
investment entity associate or investment entity joint venture to its subsidiaries. This election
can be made separately for each investment entity associate or joint venture. The amendments
are applied retrospectively, with early application permitted.

Effective January 1, 2019
• Annual Improvements to PFRSs 2014 - 2016 Cycle. This cycle of improvements contains amendments
to three standards. The following are the said improvements or amendments to PFRSs effective for
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2017, none of which has a significant effect on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group:
•

Clarification of the scope of the standard (Amendments to PFRS 12). The amendments clarify
that the disclosure requirements for interests in other entities also apply to interests that are
classified as held for sale or distribution. The amendments are applied retrospectively, with
early application permitted.

Effective January 1, 2018
• Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions (Amendments to PFRS 2).
The amendments cover the following areas:
•

Measurement of Cash-settled Awards. The amendments clarifies that a cash-settled sharebased payment is measured using the same approach as for equity-settled share-based
payments - i.e. the modified grant date method.

•

Classification of Awards Settled Net of Tax Withholdings. The amendments introduce an
exception stating that, for classification purposes, a share-based payment transaction with
employees is accounted for as equity-settled if:
-

the terms of the arrangement permit or require a company to settle the transaction net
by withholding a specified portion of the equity instruments to meet the statutory tax
withholding requirement (the net settlement feature); and

-

the entire share-based payment transaction would otherwise be classified as equitysettled if there were no net settlement feature.
The exception does not apply to equity instruments that the company withholds in excess
of the employee’s tax obligation associated with the share-based payment.

•

Modification of Awards from Cash-settled to Equity settled. The amendments clarify that when
a share-based payment is modified from cash-settled to equity-settled, at modification date,
the liability for the original cash-settled share-based payment is derecognized and the equitysettled share-based payment is measured at its fair value, recognized to the extent that the
goods or services have been received up to that date. The difference between the carrying
amount of the liability derecognized, and the amount recognized in equity, is recognized in
profit or loss immediately.
The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018. As a
practical simplification, the amendments can be applied prospectively. Retrospective or early
application is permitted.

• PFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers replaces PAS 11 Construction Contracts, PAS 18
Revenue, IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes, IFRIC 18 Transfer of Assets from Customers and
SIC-31 Revenue - Barter Transactions Involving Advertising Services. The new standard introduces
a new revenue recognition model for contracts with customers which specifies that revenue should
be recognized when (or as) a company transfers control of goods or services to a customer at the
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• PFRS 16 Leases supersedes PAS 17 Leases and the related Philippine Interpretations. The new
standard introduces a single lease accounting model for lessees under which all major leases are
recognized on-balance sheet, removing the lease classification test. Lease accounting for lessors
essentially remains unchanged except for a number of details including the application of the new
lease definition, new sale-and-leaseback guidance, new sub-lease guidance and new disclosure
requirements. Practical expedients and targeted reliefs were introduced including an optional lessee
exemption for short-term leases (leases with a term of 12 months or less) and low-value items, as
well as the permission of portfolio-level accounting instead of applying the requirements to individual
leases. New estimates and judgmental thresholds that affect the identification, classification and
measurement of lease transactions, as well as requirements to reassess certain key estimates and
judgments at each reporting date were introduced.
PFRS 16 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. Earlier application is
permitted for entities that apply PFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers at or before the
date of initial application of PFRS 16. The Group is currently assessing the potential impact of PFRS
16 and plans to adopt this new standard on leases on the required effective date.
Deferral of the local implementation of Amendments to PFRS 10 and PAS 28: Sale or Contribution of
Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture
•

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture
(Amendments to PFRS 10 and PAS 28). The amendments address an inconsistency between
the requirements in PFRS 10 and in PAS 28, in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint venture.
The amendments require that a full gain or loss is recognized when a transaction involves
a business (whether it is housed in a subsidiary or not). A partial gain or loss is recognized
when a transaction involves assets that do not constitute a business, even if these assets are
housed in a subsidiary.
Originally, the amendments apply prospectively for annual periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2016 with early adoption permitted. However, on January 13, 2016, the FRSC
decided to postpone the effective date of these amendments until the IASB has completed its
broader review of the research project on equity accounting that may result in the simplification
of accounting for such transactions and of other aspects of accounting for associates and
joint ventures.

Financial Instruments
Date of Recognition. The Group recognizes a financial asset or a financial liability in the consolidated
statements of financial position when it becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
In the case of a regular way purchase or sale of financial assets, recognition is done using settlement
date accounting.
Initial Recognition of Financial Instruments. Financial instruments are recognized initially at fair value of
the consideration given (in case of an asset) or received (in case of a liability). The initial measurement
of financial instruments, except for those designated at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL), includes
transaction costs.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group classifies its financial assets in the following categories
starting January 1, 2015: financial assets at FVPL, financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (FVOCI) and financial assets at amortized cost. The classification of financial
assets depends on the basis of the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset.
The Group classifies its financial liabilities as either financial liabilities at amortized cost or financial
liabilities at FVPL. The Group classifies all financial liabilities at amortized cost, except for:
(a) financial liabilities designated by the Group at initial recognition as at fair value through profit or
loss, when doing so results in more relevant information.
(b) financial liabilities that arise when a transfer of a financial asset does not qualify for derecognition
or when the continuing involvement approach applies.
(c) contingent consideration recognized by the Group in a business combination which shall
subsequently be measured at fair value with changes recognized in profit or loss.

However, the Group may make an irrevocable election at initial recognition to present subsequent
changes in FVOCI for investments in equity instruments that are neither held for trading nor contingent
consideration in a business combination.
Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets at FVOCI are measured at fair value and changes
therein, other than impairment losses and foreign currency differences on FVOCI debt instruments,
are recognized in other comprehensive income and presented in the “Fair value reserve” in equity. The
effective yield component of debt securities is reported as part of “Interest income” in the consolidated
statements of income. Dividends earned on holding FVOCI equity securities are recognized as “Dividend
income” when the right to receive payment has been established. When individual financial assets
at FVOCI are either derecognized or impaired, the related accumulated unrealized gains or losses
previously reported in equity is reclassified from equity to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment.
The Group’s investments in equity securities included under “Investments in stocks” account are
classified under this category (Note 11).
Financial Assets at Amortized Cost. The Group measures a financial asset at amortized cost if it is not
designated as at FVPL and both of the following conditions are met:

(d) financial guarantee contracts and commitments to provide a loan at a below-market interest
rate which are initially measured at fair value and subsequently at the higher of amortized
amount and amount of loss allowance.

(a) the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows; and

Management determines the classification of its financial assets and financial liabilities at initial
recognition and, where allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates such designation at every reporting date.

(b) the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Previously, the Group classified its financial assets in the following categories: held-to-maturity (HTM)
investments, available-for-sale (AFS) financial assets, financial assets at FVPL and loans and receivables.
The Group classifies its financial liabilities as either financial liabilities at FVPL or other financial liabilities.
The classification depends on the purpose for which the investments are acquired and whether they are
quoted in an active market. Management determines the classification of its financial assets and financial
liabilities at initial recognition and, where allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates such designation at
every reporting date.

Such financial assets are carried at amortized cost using the effective interest method less any
allowance for impairment. Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium
on acquisition and fees that are integral part of the effective interest rate. The periodic amortization is
included as part of “Interest income” in the consolidated statements of income. Gains and losses are
recognized in profit or loss when the financial assets at amortized cost are derecognized or impaired,
as well as through the amortization process. Financial assets at amortized cost are included in current
assets if maturity is within twelve months from reporting date. Otherwise, these are classified as
noncurrent assets.

Determination of Fair Value. The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets at reporting
date is based on their quoted market price or dealer price quotations, without any deduction for
transaction costs. When current bid and ask prices are not available, the price of the most recent
transaction provides evidence of the current fair value as long as there has not been any significant
change in economic circumstances since the time of the transaction.
For all other financial instruments not listed in an active market, the fair value is determined by
using appropriate valuation techniques. Valuation techniques include net present value techniques,
comparison to similar instruments for which market observable prices exist, option pricing models, and
other relevant valuation models.
All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the consolidated financial
statements are categorized within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:
•

•

the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in
practice. In particular, whether management’s strategy focuses on earning contractual interest
revenue, maintaining a particular interest rate profile, matching the duration of the financial
assets to the duration of the liabilities that are funding those assets or realizing cash flows
through the sale of the assets;

•

how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Group’s management;

•

the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within
that business model) and how those risks are managed;

•

the frequency, volume and timing of sales in prior periods, the reason for such sales and
its expectation about future sales activity. However, information about sales activity is not
considered in isolation, but as part of an overall assessment of how the Group’s stated
objective for managing the financial assets is achieved and how cash flows are realized.

Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

•
Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the
		
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and
•

Business Model Assessment
The Group makes an assessment of the objectives of a business model in which an asset is held at a
portfolio level because this best reflects the way the business is managed and information is provided to
management. The information considered includes:

Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data.

For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the consolidated financial statements on a recurring
basis, the Group determines whether transfers have occurred between Levels in the hierarchy by reassessing the categorization at the end of each reporting period.

Financial assets that are held for trading or managed and whose performance is evaluated in a fair value
basis are measured at FVPL because they are neither held to collect contractual cash flows nor held
both to collect contractual cash flows and to sell financial assets.

For purposes of the fair value disclosure, the Group has determined classes of assets and liabilities on
the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value
hierarchy, as explained above.

Assessment Whether Contractual Cash Flows are Solely Payments of Principal and Interest
For the purpose of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on
initial recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for the credit
associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of time and for other basic
lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well as profit margin.

‘Day 1’ Profit. Where the transaction price in a non-active market is different from the fair value of the
other observable current market transactions in the same instrument or based on a valuation technique
whose variables include only data from observable market, the Group recognizes the difference
between the transaction price and fair value (a ‘Day 1’ profit) in profit or loss unless it qualifies for
recognition as some other type of asset. In cases where use is made of data which are not observable,
the difference between the transaction price and model value is only recognized in profit or loss when
the inputs become observable or when the instrument is derecognized. For each transaction, the Group
determines the appropriate method of recognizing the ‘Day 1’ profit amount.
Financial Assets
Starting January 1, 2015, the Group adopted the following policies on financial assets:
Financial Assets at FVPL. The Group measures a financial asset at FVPL unless it is measured at
amortized cost or at FVOCI. At initial recognition, the Group may choose to irrevocably designate a
financial asset as measured at FVPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or
recognition inconsistency that would otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities or recognizing
the gains and losses on them on different bases.
Financial assets at FVPL are carried in the consolidated statements of financial position at fair value with
gains or losses recognized in profit or loss. Interest earned is recorded in interest income while dividend
income is recorded in other income when the right to receive payment has been established. The Group
determines the cost of investments sold using specific identification method.
The Group’s investment in equity securities included under “Marketable securities” are classified under
this category (Note 8).
Financial Assets at FVOCI. The Group measures a financial asset at FVOCI if both of the following
conditions are met:
(a) the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both
collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets; and

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, the Group
considers the contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial asset
contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows such that
it would not meet this condition. In making the assessment, the Group considers:
•

contingent events that would change the amount and timing of cash flows;

•

leverage features;

•

prepayment and extension terms;

•

terms that limit the Group’s claim to cash flows for specified assets (e.g. non-recourse asset
arrangements); and

•

features that modify consideration of the time value of money – e.g. periodical reset of interest
rates.

Reclassification of Financial Assets and Liabilities
Financial Assets. When, and only when, the Group changes its business model for managing financial
assets, it shall reclassify all affected financial assets. Such changes are determined by the Group’s senior
management as a result of external or internal changes and must be significant to the entity’s operations
and demonstrable to external parties.
A change in the Group’s business model will occur only when the Group either begins or ceases to
perform an activity that is significant to its operations; for example, when the entity has acquired,
disposed of or terminated a business line.
Financial Liabilities. The Group shall not reclassify any financial liability.
Previously, the Group had the following policies on financial assets:

(b) the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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Financial Assets at FVPL. Financial assets at FVPL include financial assets held for trading or is
designated as such upon initial recognition. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they
are acquired for the purpose of selling in the near term. Financial assets at FVPL are carried in the
consolidated statements of financial position at fair value with gains or losses recognized in profit or loss.
Interest earned is recorded in interest income while dividend income is recorded in other income when
the right to receive payment has been established.

is the weighted average credit losses with the probability of default as the weight. Stage 3 includes
financial assets that are credit impaired at the reporting date. For these items, lifetime expected credit
losses are recognized. No impairment loss is recognized on equity investments.

Reassessment only occurs if there is a change in the terms of the contract that significantly modifies the
cash flows that would otherwise be required. The Group determines the cost of investments sold using
specific identification method.

When determining whether the risk of default on a financial instrument has increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Group considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and
available without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and
analysis, based on the Group’s historical experience, credit assessment and including forward-looking
information.

Included under this category is the Group’s marketable securities which consist mainly of investments
in quoted securities.

A financial asset is credit impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.

The information analyzed by the Group includes the following, among others:
AFS Financial Assets. AFS financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are either designated
in this category or not classified in any of the other financial asset categories. Subsequent to initial
recognition, AFS financial assets are measured at fair value and changes therein, other than impairment
losses and foreign currency differences on AFS debt instruments, are recognized in other comprehensive
income and presented in the “Fair value reserve” in equity. The effective yield component of AFS debt
securities is reported as part of “Interest income” in the consolidated statements of income. Dividends
earned on holding AFS equity securities are recognized as “Dividend income” when the right to receive
payment has been established. When individual AFS financial assets are either derecognized or impaired,
the related accumulated unrealized gains or losses previously reported in equity are transferred to and
recognized in profit or loss.

•

information obtained during periodic review of customer files - e.g. audited financial
statements, management accounts, budgets and projections. Examples of areas of particular
focus are: gross profit margins, financial leverage ratios, compliance with covenants, quality of
management, senior management changes.

•

data from credit reference agencies, press articles, changes in external credit ratings.

•

actual and expected significant changes in the political, regulatory and technological
environment of the debtor or in its business activities.

AFS financial assets also include unquoted equity instruments with fair values which cannot be reliably
determined. These instruments are carried at cost less impairment in value, if any.

•

payment record - this includes overdue status as well as a range of variables about payment
ratios.

The Group’s investments in equity securities included under “Investments in stocks” account in the
consolidated statements of financial position are classified under this category.

•

utilization of the granted credit limit.

•

existing and forecast changes in the business, financial and economic conditions.

Loans and Receivables. Loans and receivables are nonderivative financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. Such financial assets are carried at
amortized cost using the effective interest method less any allowance for impairment. Amortized cost
is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees that are integral
part of the effective interest rate. The periodic amortization is included as part of “Interest income” in the
consolidated statements of income. Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss when the loans
and receivables are derecognized or impaired, as well as through the amortization process. Loans
and receivables are included in current assets if maturity is within twelve months from reporting date.
Otherwise, these are classified as noncurrent assets.
The Group’s financial assets at amortized cost prior to and after January 1, 2015 remain the same
which include cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, deposits and guarantee bonds.
Cash includes cash on hand and in banks which are stated at face value. Cash equivalents are shortterm, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with original
maturities of three months or less from the date of acquisition and that are subject to an insignificant
risk of change in value.

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when:
•

the debtor is unlikely to pay its credit obligation to the Group in full, without recourse by the
Group to actions such as realizing security (if any is held); or

•

the debtor is past due more than 90 days on any material credit obligation to the Group.

Inputs into the assessment of whether a financial instrument is in default and their significance may vary
over time to reflect changes in circumstances.
Trade and other receivables are written off (either partially or in full) when there is no realistic prospect of
recovery. This is generally the case when the Group determines that the borrower does not have assets
or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the
write-off. However, the financial assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities
in order to comply with the Group’s procedures for recovery of amounts due.
Previously, the Group had the following policy on the impairment of financial assets:

Financial Liabilities
Financial Liabilities at Amortized Cost. This category pertains to financial liabilities that are not designated
at FVPL upon inception of the liability. These include liabilities arising from operations or borrowings. The
financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and are subsequently carried at amortized cost,
taking into account the impact of applying the effective interest method of amortization for any related
premium, discount and any directly attributable transaction costs. These financial liabilities are included
in current liabilities if maturity is within twelve months from reporting date. Otherwise, these are classified
as noncurrent liabilities.
This category includes the Group’s trade and other current liabilities.
Derecognition of Financial Assets and Liabilities
Financial Assets. A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of
similar financial assets) is derecognized when:
•

the rights to receive cash flows from the asset expired;

•

the Group retains the rights to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an
obligation to pay them in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; or

•

the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either: (a) has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the assets; or (b) has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of
the asset.

Where the Group has transferred its right to receive cash flows from an asset and has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset,
the asset is recognized to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement in the asset. Continuing
involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of
the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group
could be required to repay.
Financial Liabilities. A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is
discharged, cancelled, or has expired. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified,
such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition
of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognized in profit or loss.
Impairment of Financial Assets
Starting January 1, 2015, the Group adopted the expected credit losses model (“ECL”) which is applied
to all debt instruments measured at amortized cost or FVOCI as well as to issued loan commitments
and most financial guarantee contracts. The ECL is a ‘three stage’ approach which is based on the
change in credit quality of financial assets since initial recognition. Assets move through the three
stages as credit quality changes and the stages dictate how an entity measures impairment losses.
Stage 1 includes financial instruments that have not had a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition or which have low credit risk at the reporting date. For these items, 12-month ECL are
recognized. The 12-months ECL are the expected credit losses that result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Stage 2 includes financial instruments that have had
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition (unless they have low credit risk at the reporting
date) but are not credit impaired. For these items, lifetime expected credit losses are recognized which
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The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset
or a group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed to be
impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that
has occurred after the initial recognition of the assets (an incurred “loss event”) and the loss event has
an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or of the group of financial assets that
can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include indications that the debtors or a group
of debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal
payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization and where
observable data indicate that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows such as
arrears or changes in economic conditions that correlate with defaults.
Assets Carried at Amortized Cost. For assets carried at amortized cost, the Group first assesses whether
objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets that are individually significant,
and collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant. If there is objective evidence that
an impairment loss has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between
the assets’ carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the
financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced
through use of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognized in profit or loss. Interest
income continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount based on the effective interest rate
of the asset.
If it is determined that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial
asset, whether significant or not, the asset is included in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk
characteristics and that group of financial assets is collectively assessed for impairment. Assets that are
individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or continues, to be recognized
are not included in the collective assessment of impairment.
The Group provides an allowance for loans and receivables which are deemed to be uncollectible
despite the Group’s continuous effort to collect such balances from the respective clients. The Group
considered those past due receivables as still collectible if they become past due only because of a
delay on the completion of the services to be rendered by the Group as agreed in the contract and not
due to incapability of the clients to fulfill their obligation. However, for those receivables associated to
pre-terminated contracts, the Group directly writes them off from the account since there is no realistic
prospect of future recovery.
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be
related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously recognized
impairment loss is reversed. Any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is recognized in profit or
loss, to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its amortized cost at the
reversal date.
AFS Financial Assets. For equity instruments carried at fair value, the Group assesses whether objective
evidence of impairment exists. Objective evidence of impairment includes a significant or prolonged
decline in the fair value of an equity instrument below its cost. ‘Significant’ is evaluated against the
original cost of investment and ‘prolonged’ is evaluated against the period in which the fair value has
been below its original cost.
If an AFS financial asset is impaired, an amount comprising the difference between the cost (net of any
principal payment and amortization) and its current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial
asset previously recognized in profit or loss, is transferred from equity to profit or loss. Reversals in

respect of equity instruments classified as AFS financial assets are not recognized in profit or loss.
Reversals of impairment losses on debt instruments are recognized in profit or loss, if the increase in fair
value of the instrument can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was
recognized in profit or loss.
In the case of an unquoted equity instrument or of a derivative asset linked to and must be settled
by delivery of an unquoted equity instrument, for which its fair value cannot be reliably measured, the
amount of impairment loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows from the asset discounted using its historical effective rate
of return on the asset.
Offsetting Financial Instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the consolidated statements
of financial position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts
and there is intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
This is not generally the case with master netting agreements, and the related assets and liabilities are
presented gross in the consolidated statements of financial position.
Spare Parts and Supplies and Instant Scratch Tickets
Spare parts and supplies and instant scratch tickets are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable
value. Cost includes all costs attributable to acquisition and is determined using the first-in, first-out
method for spare parts and supplies and specific identification on instant scratch tickets. Net realizable
value is the current replacement cost for spare parts and supplies and selling price less estimated selling
cost for instant scratch tickets. The carrying amount of spare parts and supplies and instant scratch
tickets is reviewed at each reporting date to reflect the accurate valuation in the consolidated financial
statements. Spare parts and supplies and instant scratch tickets identified to be obsolete and unusable
are written off and charged as expense for the period.
Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are stated at cost, excluding the costs of day-to-day servicing, less accumulated
depreciation, amortization and any impairment in value. Such cost includes the cost of replacing part
of such property and equipment when that cost is incurred if it is probable that the future economic
benefits associated with the expenditure will flow to the Group. Equipment under installation are stated
at cost, which includes purchase price and other direct costs. Such assets are not depreciated until
such time when the relevant property and equipment are available for its intended use.
When major repairs and maintenance are performed, its cost is recognized in the carrying amount of the
property and equipment as a replacement if it is probable that the future economic benefits associated
with the expenditure will flow to the Group.
Depreciation and amortization are computed using the straight-line method over the following estimated
useful lives:

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date through
profit or loss. It is then considered in the determination of goodwill.
Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognized at fair value at the
acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration which is deemed
to be an asset or liability, will be recognized in accordance with PFRS 9 in profit or loss. If the contingent
consideration is classified as equity, it should not be remeasured until it is finally settled within equity.
Goodwill
Goodwill acquired in a business combination is initially measured at cost being the excess of the
cost of the business combination over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities. Subsequently, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment in value. Goodwill is reviewed for impairment, at least annually or more
frequently, if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may be impaired.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the
acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash generating units, or group of cash generating
units that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination irrespective of whether other
assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or group of units. Each unit or group of units
to which the goodwill is so allocated:
•

represents the lowest level within the Group at which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes; and

•

is not larger than an operating segment or determined in accordance with PFRS 8 Operating
Segment.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit or group
of cash generating units, to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash
generating unit or group of cash generating units is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is
recognized. Where goodwill forms part of a cash generating unit or group of cash generating units and
part of the operations within the unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed
of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal of
operation. Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured based on the relative values of the
operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained. Impairment loss with respect
to goodwill is not reversed.
When business combination involves more than one exchange transaction (occurs in stages), each
exchange transaction is treated separately by the Group, using the cost of transaction and fair value
information at the date of each exchange transactions, to determine the amount of goodwill associated
with that transaction. Any adjustment to fair value relating to the previously held interest is a revaluation
and is accounted for as such.
When subsidiaries are sold, the difference between the selling price and the net assets plus goodwill is
recognized in profit or loss.

The assets’ residual values, useful lives and depreciation and amortization methods are reviewed and
adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date, to ensure that the period and methods of depreciation
and amortization are consistent with the expected pattern of economic benefits from items of property
and equipment.
Fully depreciated property and equipment are retained in the accounts until they are no longer in use
and no further depreciation is charged to current operations. An item of property and equipment is
derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the year the asset
is derecognized.
Impairment of Nonfinancial Assets Excluding Goodwill
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that property and equipment
and intangible assets with definite useful life may be impaired. If any such indication exists and when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group makes an estimate of the asset’s
recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s cash-generating unit’s
fair value less costs to sell or its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset
does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or group of
assets. Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered
impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. In determining fair value less costs to sell, an
appropriate valuation model is used. These calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples or other
available fair value indicators. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pretax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss in
the expense category consistent with the function of the impaired asset.
An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously
recognized impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, the
Group makes an estimate of recoverable amount. A previously recognized impairment loss is reversed
only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since
the last impairment loss was recognized. If that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased
to its recoverable amount. That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined, net of depreciation and amortization, had no impairment loss been recognized for the
asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognized in profit or loss unless the asset is carried at revalued
amount, in which case the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase.
Business Combinations
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is
measured as the aggregate of the consideration transferred, measured at acquisition date fair value and
the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group
measures the non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the proportionate share
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Acquisition-related costs incurred under ‘Costs and expenses’
account in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
‘
When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for
appropriate classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of
embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree.

Non-controlling Interests
The acquisitions of non-controlling interests are accounted for as transactions with owners in their
capacity as owners and therefore no goodwill is recognized as a result of such transactions. Any
difference between the purchase price and the net assets of acquired entity is recognized in equity.
The adjustments to non-controlling interests are based on a proportionate amount of the net assets
of the subsidiary.
Transactions that result in changes in ownership interests while retaining control are accounted for as
transactions with equity holders in their capacity as equity holders. No gain or loss on such changes is
recognized in profit or loss; instead, it is recognized in equity. Also no change in the carrying amounts of
assets (including goodwill) or liabilities is recognized as a result of such transactions.
Intangible Assets
The cost of an intangible asset acquired in a business combination is the fair value as at the date
of acquisition. Subsequently, intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortization and
accumulated impairment losses, if any. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either
finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with definite lives are amortized over the useful economic life and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The
amortization period and the amortization method for an intangible asset with a definite useful life are
reviewed at least at each reporting d ate. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern
of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset is accounted for by changing the
amortization period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting estimates.
Gains and losses arising from the disposal of an intangible asset are measured as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognized in the
consolidated statements of comprehensive income when the asset is derecognized.
Provisions
Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of
a past event; it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation; and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. If the effect of
the time value of money is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash
flows at a pretax rate that reflects current market assessment of the time value of money and those risks
specific to the liability. Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of
time is recognized as a finance cost. Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to
reflect the current best estimate.
Capital Stock
Common shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issuance of
common shares are recognized as deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.
Treasury Shares
When capital stock recognized as equity is repurchased, the amount of the consideration paid, which
includes directly attributable costs, net of any tax effects, is recognized as a deduction from equity.
Repurchased shares are classified as treasury shares and are presented as a deduction from total
equity. When the treasury shares are sold or reissued subsequently, the amount received is recognized
as an increase in equity and the resulting surplus is recognized as additional paid in capital (APIC), while
the resulting deficit is applied against the APIC arising from the issuance of treasury stock. Any remaining
deficit is applied against retained earnings.
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Fair Value Reserve
Fair value reserve represents the cumulative change in the fair value of investments in stocks until they
are derecognized. Movements in the reserve are set out in the consolidated statements of changes in
equity.
Retained Earnings
The amount included in retained earnings includes profit attributable to the Group’s stockholders and
reduced by dividends. Dividends are recognized as a liability and deducted from equity when they
are declared. Interim dividends are deducted from equity when they are paid. Retained earnings are
appropriated for the cost of treasury shares acquired. When the appropriation is no longer needed, it
is reversed. Dividends for the year that are approved after the reporting date are dealt with as an event
after the reporting date. Retained earnings may also include effect of changes in accounting policy as
may be required by the standard’s transitional provisions.
Operating Segments
An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may
earn revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any
of the Group’s other components. All operating segments’ operating results are reviewed regularly by
the Group’s President to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its
performance, and for which discrete financial information is available.

Operating lease payments are recognized as expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
lease term or based on the term of the lease agreements, as applicable.
Retirement Cost
The Parent Company, LCC and TGTI have noncontributory defined benefits retirement plans covering
substantially all of its qualified employees.
The Group’s defined benefits obligation is calculated by estimating the amount of future benefit that
employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods, discounting that
amount and deducting the fair value of any plan assets.
The calculation of defined benefits obligation is performed annually by a qualified actuary using the
projected unit credit method. When the calculation results in a potential asset for the Group, the
recognized asset is limited to the present value of economic benefits available in the form of reductions
in future contributions to the plan.

The Group’s operating businesses are organized and managed separately according to the nature of the
products and services provided, with each segment representing a strategic business unit that offers
different products.

Remeasurements of the net defined benefits obligation or asset, which comprise actuarial gains and
losses, the return on plan assets (excluding interest) and the effect of the asset ceiling (excluding
interest), if any, are recognized immediately in other comprehensive income. The Group determines the
net interest expense or income on the net defined benefit obligation or asset for the period by applying
the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the annual period
to the then-net defined benefit obligation or asset, taking into account any changes in the net defined
benefit obligation or asset during the period as a result of contributions and benefit payments. Net
interest expense and other expenses related to defined benefit plans are recognized in profit or loss.

Segment Assets and Liabilities. Segment assets include all operating assets used by a segment and
consist principally of operating cash, receivables and property and equipment. Segment liabilities
include all operating liabilities and consist principally of trade and other current liabilities. Segment assets
and liabilities do not include deferred income taxes, investments and advances, and borrowings.

When the benefits of a plan are changed, or when a plan is curtailed, the resulting change in benefit
that relates to past service or the gain or loss on curtailment is recognized immediately in profit or loss.
The Group recognizes gains and losses on the settlement of a defined benefit retirement plan when the
settlement occurs.

Inter-segment Transactions. Segment revenue, segment expenses and segment performance include
transfers among business segments. The transfers, if any are accounted for at competitive market prices
charged to unaffiliated customers for similar products. Such transfers are eliminated in consolidation.

Actuarial valuations are made with sufficient regularity so that the amounts recognized in the
consolidated financial statements do not differ materially from the amounts that would be determined
at reporting date.

Revenue
Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group
and the revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received, net of discounts, rebates and applicable taxes. The following specific recognition criteria must
also be met before revenue is recognized:

Foreign Currency Transactions
Transactions denominated in foreign currency are recorded in Philippine peso by applying to the foreign
currency amount the exchange rate between the Philippine peso and the foreign currency at the date
of transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are restated using
the closing exchange rate at reporting date. All exchange rate differences including those arising from
translation or settlement of monetary items at rates different from those at which they were initially
recorded are recognized in profit or loss in the year such differences arise.

Equipment Rental. Revenue is recognized based on a percentage of gross sales of the lessee’s online
lottery operations, as computed by the lessee in accordance with the agreement, or a fixed annual rental
per terminal in commercial operation, whichever is higher.
Commission and Distribution Income. Revenues from the distribution of lottery, sweepstakes and
scratch tickets to customers, including retailers and sub-distributors, representing the Group’s share
from the sales, are recognized upon delivery of the tickets to the customers. Revenue from the monthly
fixed payment from PGEC is recognized monthly in accordance with the OMOA.
Interest. Income is recognized as the interest accrues, taking into account the effective yield on the
asset.

Taxes
Current Tax. Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior years are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authority. The tax rates and tax laws used to
compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
date.
Deferred Tax. Deferred tax is provided on all temporary differences at the reporting date between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences, except:

Dividends. Income is recognized when the Group’s right to receive payment is established.
•

where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting income nor taxable income or loss; and

•

in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and interests in joint ventures, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.

Costs and Expenses
Costs and expenses are recognized when incurred and are reported in the consolidated statements of
income in the periods to which they relate.
Expenses are also recognized in the consolidated statements of income when a decrease in future
economic benefits related to a decrease in an asset or an increase in a liability can be measured
reliably has arisen. Expenses are recognized in the consolidated statements of income on the basis
of a direct association between costs incurred and the earnings of specific items of income; on the
basis of systematic and rational allocation procedures when economic benefits are expected to arise
over several accounting periods and the association can only be broadly or indirectly determined; or
immediately when an expenditure produces no future economic benefits or when, and to the extent
that future economic benefits do not qualify or cease to qualify, for recognition in the consolidated
statements of financial position as an asset.
Leases
The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains a lease is based on the substance of the
arrangement at inception date of whether the fulfillment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a
specific asset or assets and the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset. A reassessment is made
after inception of the lease only if one of the following applies:
a.

there is a change in contractual terms, other than a renewal or extension of the arrangement;

b.

a renewal option is exercised or extension granted, unless the term of the renewal or extension
was initially included in the lease term;

c.

there is a change in the determination of whether fulfillment is dependent on a specified asset;
or

d.

there is a substantial change to the asset.

Where a reassessment is made, lease accounting shall commence or cease from the date when the
change in circumstances gave rise to the reassessment for scenarios a, c or d at the date of renewal or
extension period for scenario b.
Operating Lease
As a Lessor. Leases where the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset are classified as operating leases. Rental income is recognized on a straight-line
basis over the term of the lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating an operating lease are added
to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognized over the lease term on the same bases
as rental income. Contingent rents are recognized as revenue in the period in which they are earned.
As a Lessee. Finance leases, which transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of the leased item, are capitalized at the inception of the lease at the fair value of the
leased property or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. Lease payments are
apportioned between the finance charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are recognized in profit or loss.
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Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences and carry forward benefits
of unused tax losses - Net Operating Loss Carry Over (NOLCO) and minimum corporate income tax
(MCIT), to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which deductible
temporary differences can be utilized except:
•

where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary differences arises from the
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting income nor taxable income or
loss; and

•

in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and interests in joint ventures, deferred tax assets are recognized only to the extent
that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences can be
utilized.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable income will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax assets to be utilized. Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting
date and are recognized to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable income will allow
the deferred tax assets to be recovered.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year
when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the
deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.
In determining the amount of current and deferred tax, the Group takes into account the impact of
uncertain tax positions and whether additional taxes and interest may be due. The Group believes that
its accruals for tax liabilities are adequate for all open tax years based on its assessment of many factors,
including interpretation of tax laws and prior experience. This assessment relies on estimates and
assumptions and may involve a series of judgments about future events. New information may become
available that causes the Group to change its judgment regarding the adequacy of existing tax liabilities;
such changes to tax liabilities will impact tax expense in the period that such a determination is made.

Current tax and deferred tax are recognized in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to a
business combination, or items recognized directly in equity or in other comprehensive income.
Value-added Tax (VAT). Revenue, expenses and assets are recognized net of the amount of VAT except:
•

•

Where the VAT incurred on the purchase of an asset or service is not recoverable from the tax
authority, in which case the VAT is recognized as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or
part of the expense item as applicable; and
Receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of VAT included.

Basic/Diluted Earning Per Share (EPS)
Basic EPS is computed by dividing the net income for the period attributable to equity holders of the
Parent Company by the weighted-average number of issued and outstanding common shares during
the period.
For the purpose of computing diluted EPS, the net income for the period attributable to equity holders
of the Parent Company and the weighted-average number of issued and outstanding common shares
are adjusted for the effects of all potential dilutive instruments.
The Group does not have potential common shares or other instruments that may entitle the holder to
common shares. Therefore, diluted EPS is the same as basic EPS.
Related Parties
Related party relationship exists when one party has the ability to control, directly or indirectly, through
one or more intermediaries, the other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in
making financial and operating decisions. Such relationship also exists between and/or among entities
which are under common control with the reporting enterprise, or between and/or among the reporting
enterprise and its key management personnel, directors, or its stockholders. In considering each
possible related party relationship, attention is directed to the substance of the relationship, and not
merely the legal form.
Contingencies
Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the consolidated financial statements. They are disclosed
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements unless the possibility of an outflow of resources
embodying economic benefits is remote. A contingent asset is not recognized in the consolidated
financial statements but disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements when an inflow
of economic benefits is probable.
Events After the Reporting Date
Post year-end events that provide additional information about the Group’s consolidated financial
position at the reporting date (adjusting events) are reflected in the consolidated financial statements.
Post year-end events that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated
financial statements when material.

5. Significant Accounting Judgments, Estimates and Assumptions
The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements in accordance with PFRS requires
management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting
policies and the amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses reported in the consolidated
financial statements at the reporting date. However, uncertainty about these judgments, estimates and
assumptions could result in an outcome that could require a material adjustment to the carrying amount
of the affected asset or liability in the future.
Judgments and estimates are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and
other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. Revisions are recognized in the period in which the judgments and estimates are
revised and in any future period affected.
Judgments
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following
judgments, apart from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements:
Leases. The evaluation of whether an arrangement contains a lease is based on its substance. An
arrangement is, or contains a lease when the fulfillment of the arrangement depends on a specific asset
or assets and the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset.
Operating Lease - As a Lessor and As a Lessee
The Group entered into various lease agreements as a lessee for retail outlets, office spaces and
warehouses and as a lessor for some lottery equipment. As the lessee, the Group determined that
the lessor retains all significant risks and rewards of ownership of the assets. As the lessor, the Group
determined that it retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the equipment.
Therefore, the leases are classified as operating lease (Notes 2 and 19).
Finance Lease - As a Lessee
The Group also entered into various lease agreements as a lessee for some lottery equipment. The
Group determined that it bears substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the
equipment. Therefore, the leases are classified as finance lease.
The carrying amount of lottery equipment under finance lease amounted to P139.4 million and P128.4
million as at December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively (Note 19).
Estimates and Assumptions
The key estimates and assumptions used in the consolidated financial statements are based upon
management’s evaluation of relevant facts and circumstances as of the date of the consolidated
financial statements. Actual results could differ from such estimates.
Allowance for Impairment Losses on Trade and Other Receivables. The Group maintains allowance for
impairment losses on trade and other receivables at a level considered adequate to provide for potential
uncollectible receivables. The level of this allowance is evaluated by the management on the basis of
factors that affect the collectibility of the accounts. These factors include, but not limited to, the age and
status of receivable, the length of relationship with the customers, the customer’s payment behavior and
known market factors. The Group reviews the allowance on a continuous basis.
Starting January 1, 2015, the Group adopted the expected credit losses model in estimating the level
of allowance, which includes forecasts of future events and conditions. A credit loss is the difference
between the cash flows that are due in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that are
expected to be received discounted at the original effective interest rate. The model represents a
probability-weighted estimate of the difference over the remaining life of the receivables. The maturity of

the Group’s receivables is less than one year so the lifetime expected credit losses and the 12-month
expected credit losses are similar. In addition, management assessed the credit risk of the receivables
as at the reporting date as low, therefore the Group did not have to assess whether a significant increase
in credit risk has occurred. The adoption of the new model did not have a significant impact on the
level of allowance.
Previously, accounts that were specifically identified to be potentially uncollectible were provided with
adequate allowance through charges to profit or loss in the form of impairment losses. An impairment
loss was also established as a certain percentage of receivables not provided with specific reserves.
This percentage was based on a collective assessment of historical collection, current economic trends,
changes in customer payment terms and other factors that may affect the Group’s ability to collect
payments.
Allowance for impairment losses on trade and other receivables amounted to
P10.8 million and P12.7 million as at December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. Trade and other
receivables amounted to P492.2 million and P362.4 million as at December 31, 2016 and 2015,
respectively (Note 9).
Estimated Useful Lives of Property and Equipment. The useful life of each of the Group’s property and
equipment is estimated based on the period over which the asset is expected to be available for use.
Such estimation is based on a collective assessment of industry practice, internal technical evaluation
and experience with similar assets. The estimated useful life of each asset is reviewed periodically
and updated if expectations differ from previous estimates due to physical wear and tear, technical
or commercial obsolescence and legal or other limits on the use of the asset. It is possible, however,
that future financial performance could be materially affected by changes in the amounts and timing
of recorded expenses brought about by changes in the factors mentioned above. A reduction in the
estimated useful life of any property and equipment and intangible asset with definite useful life would
increase the recorded operating expenses and decrease noncurrent assets.
The carrying amount of property and equipment as at December 31, 2016 and 2015 amounted to
P478.9 million and P544.5 million, respectively (Note 12).
Impairment of Non-financial Assets (except Goodwill). PFRS requires that an impairment review
be performed on property and equipment and intangible asset with definite useful life when certain
impairment indicators are present. Determining the net recoverable amount of property and equipment
and intangible asset with definite useful life requires the estimation of future cash flows expected to be
generated from the continued use and ultimate disposition of such assets or fair value less costs to
sell, whichever is higher. While it is believed that the assumptions used in the estimation of fair values
reflected in the consolidated financial statements are appropriate and reasonable, significant changes
in these assumptions may materially affect the assessment of recoverable amounts and resulting in
impairment loss.
Management assessed that there are no impairment indicators affecting the Group’s property and
equipment as at December 31, 2016 and 2015.
Impairment of Goodwill. The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least annually. This
requires the estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated.
Estimating value in use requires management to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows
from the cash-generating units and to choose a suitable discount rate to calculate the present value of
those cash flows. The key assumptions used in the impairment test of goodwill are discussed in Note
13 to the consolidated financial statements.
As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, there is no impairment loss on goodwill. The carrying amount of
goodwill amounted to P124.3 million as at December 31, 2016 and 2015 (Note 13).
Acquisition Accounting. The Group accounts for acquired businesses using the acquisition method of
accounting which requires that the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed be recognized at the date
of acquisition based on their respective fair values.
The application of the acquisition method requires certain estimates and assumptions especially
concerning the determination of the fair values of acquired intangibles assets and property and
equipment as well as liabilities assumed at the acquisition date. Moreover, the useful lives of the acquired
intangible assets and property and equipment have to be determined. Accordingly, for significant
acquisitions, the Group obtains assistance from valuation specialists. The valuations are based on
information available at the acquisition date.
Retirement Cost. The present value of the defined benefit obligation depends on a number of factors
that are determined on an actuarial basis using a number of assumptions. The assumptions used in
determining the net cost for retirement include the discount rates and rate of future salary increase.
The Group determines the appropriate discount rate at the end of each year. This is the interest rate
that is used to determine the present value of estimated future cash outflows expected to be required to
settle the defined benefit obligation. In determining the appropriate discount rate, the Group considers
the interest rates on government bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will
be paid, and that have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the related retirement liability. Other
key assumptions for retirement liability are based in part on current market conditions.
While it is believed that the Group’s assumptions are reasonable and appropriate, significant differences
in actual experience or significant changes in assumptions may materially affect the Group’s retirement
liability. The present value of defined benefit obligation amounted to P74.0 million and P60.2 million as
at December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively (Note 21).
Deferred Tax Assets. The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow
all or part of the deferred tax assets to be utilized. Management expects future operations will generate
sufficient taxable income that will allow all or part of the deferred tax assets to be utilized.
Deferred tax assets amounted to P14.9 million and P42.5 million as at December 31, 2016 and 2015,
respectively (Note 18).`
Contingencies. The Group currently has several tax assessments, legal and administrative claims. The
Group’s estimate of the probable costs for the resolution of these assessments and claims has been
developed in consultation with in-house as well as outside legal counsels handling the prosecution and
defense of these matters and is based on an analysis of potential results. The Group currently does not
believe that these tax assessments, legal and administrative claims will have a material adverse effect
on its consolidated financial position and consolidated financial performance. It is possible, however,
that future financial performance could be materially affected by changes in the estimates or in the
effectiveness of strategies relating to these proceedings. No accruals were made in relation to these
proceedings.
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The Management is still assessing the possible impact of the on-going litigation between Philippine
Gaming Management Corporation (PGMC) and PCSO that, if resolved in favor of PGMC, would have
the effect of cancelling the existing terminals currently operating in Luzon, as leased by the Parent
Company to PCSO. On September 5, 2012, a Writ of Preliminary Injunction (Injunction) was issued by
Branch 143 of the Regional Trial Court (RTC) of Makati. The Injunction orders PCSO to refrain from 1)
implementing, enforcing or exercising any right arising from the 2012 ELA between the Parent Company
and PCSO 2) ordering or allowing the Parent Company, or any third party, to install or operate any
equipment, computer or terminal relating to on-line lottery operations in Luzon, and 3) committing any
act that in any way violates or otherwise interferes with the ELA between PGMC and PCSO. The Parent
Company has filed a case with the Supreme Court to nullify the Injunction. On July 17, 2013, the
Supreme Court decided on the case brought forth by the Parent Company that it be consolidated with
the case between PGMC and PCSO, thus making the Parent Company a party to the case which is
now pending before the Court of Appeals. Meanwhile, PGMC and PCSO have entered into an Interim
Settlement whereby they agreed, among others, to maintain the status quo insofar as the terminals
already installed in Luzon by the Parent Company are concerned. The Parent Company’s Request for
Arbitration dated May 12, 2014 was denied by the International Court of Arbitration (ICA) on July 17,
2014, due to PCSO’s opposition. An Urgent Motion to resolve was filed by the Parent Company with
the Court of Appeals to compel the court to issue an order to PGMC and PCSO to include the Parent
Company in the negotiations.
On January 29, 2016, PCSO filed a Manifestation with Motion to Dismiss dated January 12, 2016,
stating that the presiding Judge approved PGMC and PCSO’s “Interim Settlement” dated December
11, 2013 wherein it was agreed that the case will be archived pending arbitration. PCSO also averred
that, on December 13, 2015, PGMC and PCSO executed a “Supplemental and Status Quo Agreement”
wherein the parties agreed to dismiss all pending judicial and civil actions between them but shall
continue with the arbitration proceedings. Thus, pursuant to the agreement, PCSO prayed for the
dismissal of this case which was eventually dismissed by virtue of the Resolution dated March 1, 2016.
On September 13, 2016, POSC filed a Memorandum with the Court of Appeals. The case is now
submitted for the resolution.
Measurement of Fair Values. A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the
measurement of fair values, for both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities.
The Group has an established control framework with respect to the measurement of fair values.
The Chief Finance Officer (CFO) has overall responsibility for overseeing all significant fair value
measurements, including Level 3 fair values, if any. The CFO regularly reviews significant unobservable
inputs and valuation adjustments. If third party information is used to measure fair values, then the CFO
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assesses the evidence obtained to support the conclusion that such valuations meet the requirements
of PFRS, including the level in the fair value hierarchy in which such valuations should be classified.
The Group uses market observable data when measuring the fair value of an asset or liability. Fair values
are categorized into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used in the valuation
techniques (Note 4).
If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability might be categorized in different
levels of the fair value hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorized in its entirety in the same
level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire measurement. The
methods and assumptions used to estimate fair values for financial assets and liabilities are discussed
in Note 23.
The fair value of financial assets amounted to P1.7 billion and P1.4 billion as at
December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. The fair value of financial liabilities amounted to P386.1
million and P397.0 million as at December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively (Note 23).

6. Segment Information
The primary segment reporting format is presented based on business segments in which the Group’s
risks and rates of return are affected predominantly by differences in the products and services provided.
The operating businesses are organized and managed separately according to the nature of the
products and services provided, with each segment representing a strategic business unit that offers
different products and serves different markets.
The Group is engaged in the businesses of leasing lottery equipment to PCSO
(leasing activities) and sale of lottery tickets like lotto, keno, sweepstakes and swatch tickets (distribution
and retail activities), among others. Revenues generated from the leasing activities account for 84% and
85% of the Group’s revenues in 2016 and 2015, respectively.
Performance is measured based on segment income before income tax, as included in the internal
management reports that are reviewed by the Group’s President. Segment net income is used to
measure performance as management believes that such information is the most relevant in evaluating
the results of certain segments relative to other entities that operate within these industries.
Information regarding the results of each reportable segment is shown below:

7. Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash in banks earn interest at the respective bank deposit rates. Cash equivalents are short-term
investments which are made for varying periods within one day to three months depending on the
immediate cash requirements of the Group and earn interest at the respective short-term investment rates.
Interest income from cash and cash equivalents amounted to P0.8 million, P1.3 million and P1.3 million in
2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

The movements in the allowance for impairment losses as at December 31 are as follows:

10. Other Current Assets

8. Marketable Securities
This account consists mainly of investments in quoted shares of stock of Leisure and Resorts World
Corporation, iVantage Corporation, APC Group and Philippine Long Distance Telecommunications
Company.
The movements in marketable securities are as follows:
Prepayments represent prepaid expenses and prepaid taxes of the Group.
Deposits pertain to security deposits given to the lessor on the lease of the Group’s outlets which are
refundable upon the termination of the lease.

11. Investments in Stocks
The movements in the investments in stocks are as follows:

The fair values of these securities are based on closing quoted market prices on the last market day of
the year. The Group’s dividend income on these investments amounted to P11.2 million and P4.5 million
in 2016 and 2015, respectively.

9. Trade and Other Receivables
The Group’s dividend income on these investments amounted to P10.9 million and P23.0 million in 2016
and 2015, respectively.
Fair Value Changes through Other Comprehensive Income (FVOCI)
The Group’s investments in stocks of Belle Corporation and Premium Leisure Corporation (PLC) were
previously classified as held-for-trading as determined during the original date of acquisition. On January
1, 2015, the Group’s initial application of PFRS 9, these investments did not meet the definition of held
for trading based on the assessment of the current investment policy and frequency of trades. Given
that the investments are not held-for-trading at the initial application, the Group elected to present the
changes in fair value through OCI. This resulted in the following reclassification at the date of initial
application:

Trade receivables are generally on a 30-60 day credit terms. The risks associated on this account are
disclosed in Note 23.
The advances are settled within a year. Advances to customers represent cash advances made to
companies which are engaged in similar gaming activities as the Group. Receivables from these
companies represent noninterest-bearing and unsecured advances for working capital purposes that
are due within one year.
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The Group opted not to restate prior periods. Therefore, the unrealized fair value changes for the
outstanding investments from the date of acquisition up to the date of initial application were recognized
in the 2015 beginning retained earnings as follows:

The fair value loss that would have been recognized in profit or loss in 2015 if the investment had not
been designated as FVOCI amounts to P399.8 million. The effect on the basic and diluted earnings per
share in 2015 is a decrease of P0.6620 per share.
Available for Sale (AFS) Financial Assets
This account consisted mainly of the Parent Company’s investment of stock of Leisure and Resorts
World Corporation (LRWC) which was sold on February 21, 2014. The Group’s realized gain on sale of
AFS amounted to P50.9 million in 2014.

12. Property and Equipment
The movements in the account are as follows:

Some lottery equipment with carrying amount of P139.4 million and P128.4 million as at December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively were acquired under finance lease (Note 19).

13. Goodwill and Intangible Assets
Goodwill represents the fair value of expected synergies from the acquisition of the following:

Acquisition of Falcon Resources, Inc. (FRI)
The allocation of the purchase price of FRI is as follows:

The acquisition of FRI effectively terminated the consultancy services agreement between TGTI and FRI. The consideration allocated to the cost terminating the agreement amounted to P217.4 million which was separately
accounted from the business combination. This is presented as “Non-recurring cost related to the acquisition of shares” in the consolidated statements of income. The effective termination of the consultancy agreement
acquisition of the distribution business are expected to result in significant cash flow savings for the remainder of the contractual period which will expire in 2020.
Goodwill
Goodwill acquired through business combinations has been allocated to distribution and retail activities, a cash-generating unit (CGU), which is also the reportable operating segment, for impairment testing.
The Group performs impairment testing annually or more frequently when there are indicators of impairment for goodwill.
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Goodwill from Acquisition of FRI
The recoverable amount of goodwill from the acquisition of FRI by TGTI was determined based on valuein-use calculations using actual past results and observable market data such as growth rates, operating
margins, among others. The Group reviewed the valuation performed as part of the impairment testing
of goodwill from FRI acquisition as at December 31, 2016.

On November 20, 2015, the Parent Company and Scientific Games further amended the
contract to extend the period from September 1, 2015 until July 31, 2018 and provide for
the supply of 1,500 brand new terminals to the Parent Company. The amendment also
removed the provision for the Inactive Terminal Fee of US$25.00 per terminal per month for
any additional terminals not connected to the software provided by Scientific Games.

Growth rates and operating margins used to estimate future performance are equally based on past
performance and experience of growth rates and operating margins achievable in the relevant industry.
The expected cash flows are discounted by applying a suitable weighted average cost of capital
(WACC). The discount rate applied to after tax cash flow projections is 11.5% and the terminal growth
rate is 5.2%.

Software and license fees amounted to P49.3 million, P59.1 million and P60.9 million in 2016,
2015 and 2014, respectively (Note 17).
c.

Intralot
i.

Management believes that no reasonably possible change in the key assumptions would cause the
carrying amount of the goodwill and cash generating unit to which goodwill relates to materially exceed
its recoverable amount.
Goodwill from Acquisition of LCC
The recoverable amount of goodwill from the acquisition of LCC by LotoPac was determined based on
value-in-use calculations, using actual past results and observable market data.
Growth rates and operating margins used to estimate future performance are equally based on past
performance and experience of growth rates and operating margins achievable in the relevant industry.
The expected cash flows are discounted by applying a suitable WACC. The discount rate applied to
after tax cash flow projections was 12.64% and the terminal growth rate is 11.93%.

On March 13, 2006, the Parent Company entered into a contract with Intralot (Intralot
Greece), a company incorporated under the laws of Greece, for the supply of online lottery
system necessary for the operation of a new online lottery system effective December 8,
2006. Under the terms of the “Contract for the Supply of the Visayas-Mindanao Online
Lottery System,” Intralot will provide the Parent Company the hardware, operating system
software and terminals and the required training. In consideration, the Parent Company
shall pay Intralot a pre-agreed percentage of the revenue generated by the terminals from
PCSO’s conduct of online lottery operation or a fixed amount of US$110 per terminal per
month, whichever is higher. The contract shall continue as long as the Parent Company’s
ELA with PCSO is in effect.
On July 10, 2006, Intralot entered into an agreement with Intralot Inc. (Intralot USA), a
subsidiary domiciled in Atlanta, Georgia, USA, wherein Intralot Greece assigned to
Intralot USA the whole of its contract with the Parent Company, including all its rights and
obligations arising from it.

Management believes that no reasonably possible change in the key assumptions would cause the
carrying amount of the goodwill and cash generating unit to which goodwill relates to materially exceed
its recoverable amount.

On August 16, 2012, the Parent Company and Intralot further amended the contract for
the latter to supply reconditioned or refurbished lotto terminals to the former.

Intangible Asset
The movements in intangible asset attributed to the ELA of TGTI with PCSO are as follows:

The Parent Company has the option to order from Intralot brand new lotto terminals at a
higher price per unit. The Parent Company will pay Intralot a pre-agreed percentage of the
revenue generated by the terminals from PCSO’s online lottery operations or US$110.00
per terminal whichever is higher.
On September 6, 2013, the Parent Company and Intralot further amended the contract
for the supply of additional terminals to enable the Parent Company to expand its online
lottery operations. Effective April 1, 2013, the Parent Company and Intralot agreed to
lower the percentage of revenues paid by the former to the latter.
In April 2016, the Parent Company and Intralot again amended the contract for the latter
to supply additional reconditioned or refurbished lotto terminals to the former and extend
the term of the contract until August 31, 2018.
Software and license fees amounted to P100.0 million, P89.0 million and
80.8 million in 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively (Note 17).
ii.

The Group’s intangible asset with definite life acquired in a business combination is attributed to TGTI’s
ELA with PCSO, recorded at the estimated fair market value based on discounted cash flows and is
amortized over the remaining lease term, using the straight-line method (Note 2).

14. Trade and Other Current Liabilities

On April 1, 2004, TGTI entered into a contract with Intralot for the supply of online lottery
system necessary for the operation of a new online lottery system effective until September
30, 2020. In consideration, the TGTI shall pay Intralot a pre-agreed percentage of the
revenue generated by the terminals from PCSO’s conduct of online lottery operation. On
July 2008, the contract was amended such that instead of receiving monthly remuneration
calculated as a percentage of the gross receipts of TGTI from its ELA with PCSO, Intralot
will now receive monthly remuneration calculated on a percentage basis of the gross
receipts of PCSO from its online keno games.
On March 22, 2011, the contract was further amended for Intralot to supply additional
online keno terminals to TGTI and reduced the percentage charged by Intralot to TGTI
or US$60.00 per terminal per month on an average basis, whichever is higher. TGTI also
undertakes a letter of guarantee amounting to P20 million not later than March 28, 2011
in order for TGTI to secure the payment of Intralot’s remuneration. The said guarantee is
recognized under “Other noncurrent assets” in the consolidated statements of financial
position.
Software and license fees amounted to P37.3 million, P24.6 million and P16.5 million in
2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively (Note 17).

d.

Consultancy, software and license fees, and management fees payable relate to the following
agreements:
a.

Consultancy Agreements
The Group hired the services of several consultants for its gaming operations. Consultancy
fees are based on a certain percentage of the sales of certain variants of PCSO lottery.
Consultancy fees amounted to P58.2 million, P68.5 million and P85.4 million in 2016, 2015
and 2014, respectively (Note 17).

b.

Scientific Games
On February 15, 2005, the Parent Company entered into a contract with Scientific Games, a
company incorporated under the laws of the Republic of Ireland, for the supply of computer
hardware and operating system software. Under the terms of the “Contract for the Supply of
the Visayas-Mindanao Online Lottery System,” Scientific Games will provide 900 online lottery
terminals and terminal software necessary for the Parent Company’s leasing operations.

Management Agreement
The Parent Company has a Management Agreement with AB Gaming and Leisure Exponent
Specialist, Inc. for the latter to provide investment and management counsel and to act
as manager and overseer of the Parent Company’s operations. In consideration for these
services, the Parent Company shall pay a monthly fee of P0.1 million and an amount equivalent
to a certain percentage of the Company’s earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortization (EBITDA).

TGTI has Management Agreement with AB Gaming and Leisure Specialist, Inc. (AB Gaming)
for its online keno operations. In consideration, TGTI will pay AB Gaming a management
fee equivalent to a certain percentage of the Company’s earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation and amortization.
Management fees amounted to P64.6 million, P56.1 million and P47.9 million in 2016, 2015
and 2014 respectively (Note 17).

In consideration, the Parent Company shall pay Scientific Games a pre-agreed percentage of
the revenue generated by the terminals from PCSO’s conduct of online lottery operation using
the computer hardware and operating system provided by Scientific Games. The contract shall
continue as long as the Parent Company’s ELA with PCSO is in effect.
On October 2, 2012, the Parent Company and Scientific Games amended the contract to
extend the period from April 1, 2013 until August 31, 2015, and provide for the supply of
additional terminals (Note 2).
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15. Equity
a.

Capital Stock

Pursuant to the registration statement rendered effective by the SEC on March 27, 2007 and permit to sell issued by the SEC dated March 27, 2007 - 39,800,000 common shares of the Parent Company
were registered and may be offered for sale at an offer price of P8.88 per common share. As at December 31, 2016, the Parent Company has a total of 447,665,473 issued and outstanding common shares
and 56 stockholders.
In 2016, the BOD, upon recommendation of management, declared the following dividends:
Cash dividends

Stock dividends

In 2015, the BOD, upon recommendation of management, declared the following cash dividends:

In 2014, the BOD, upon recommendation of management, declared the following cash dividends:

b.

Treasury Shares
On July 11, 2008, the BOD authorized the Parent Company to buy back up to 2,000,000 shares from the public as a means of preserving the value of the Parent Company’s shares and maintaining investor
confidence. In addition, on October 14, 2008, the BOD approved to extend its share buy-back program up to a maximum of 10% of the Parent Company’s outstanding capital stock.
The movements in treasury shares are as follows:

16. Related Party Transactions
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a.

The Parent Company has an operational and technical support services agreement with TGTI which the former will assist the latter in the following:
(1) establishing a suitable and efficient telecommunications links for the latter’s online keno network and (2) overseeing the efficient operation, regular preventive maintenance, and necessary repairs on TGTI’s online
keno terminals deployed within the Visayas and Mindanao regions, including the central data server located in Cebu City. In consideration for lease services, TGTI pays a fixed fee per keno terminal.
TGTI also reimburses the Parent Company for communication expenses incurred on some online keno agents/operators and the shared data center.

b.

The Parent Company granted non-interest bearing cash advances to LotoPac, LCC and FRI for working capital requirements.

The above transactions and balances have been eliminated in the consolidated financial statements.
Compensation of the Group’s key management personnel are as follows:

The compensation of the Group’s key management personnel is included in the “Personnel costs” as disclosed in Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

17. Costs and Expenses

Personnel costs are as follows:

18. Income Tax
The reconciliation of income tax expense computed at the applicable statutory income tax rate to income tax expense shown in the consolidated statements of income is as follow:

The components of the Group’s deferred tax recognized in comprehensive income are as follows:
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The components of deferred tax assets are as follows:
As at December 31, 2016

As at December 31, 2015

19. Lease Commitments

As Lessee

a.

Finance Lease

a.

Lottery Equipment. The contracts for the supply of online lottery system with Scientific Games and
Intralot contain leases which are classified as finance lease. These are included as part of Lottery
equipment under “Property and equipment” in the consolidated statements of financial position.
The details as at December 31 are as follows:

The Parent Company leases some office spaces for periods of one to three years up to 2019.
The lease agreements provide for minimum rental commitments with annual rental escalation
rate of 5% to 10%.

b.

LotoPac, LCC and FRI lease some retail outlets and office spaces that are renewed annually
at the option of both companies.

c.

TGTI entered into lease contracts with the following: (1) office space for a period of five years
commencing on February 1, 2011 and expiring on January 31, 2016 which was renewed for a
period of two years commencing on February 1, 2016 to January 31, 2018, (2) warehouse for
a period of seven years commencing on August 1, 2010 and expiring on July 31, 2017, and
(3) parking space for a period of one year, renewable upon mutual consent of the parties.

The above operating leases have no restrictions and contingent rentals.
The additions amounted to P58.4 million in 2016 and P31.6 million in 2015.
Future minimum lease payments under these finance leases together with the present value of the
minimum lease payments as at December 31 are as follows:

Rent expense amounted to P49.0 million in 2016, P51.0 million in 2015 and P47.3 million in 2014.
Future minimum rental expense for the remaining lease terms are as follows:
The above operating leases have no restrictions and contingent rentals.
Rent expense amounted to P49.0 million in 2016, P51.0 million in 2015 and P47.3 million in 2014.
Future minimum rental expense for the remaining lease terms are as follows:

20. Other Income
The contracts of the Parent Company are until July 31, 2018 while the contract of Intralot is until
September 30, 2020, which are the expiration dates of the respective ELAs with PCSO. Payments
are based on a pre-agreed percentage of the revenue generated by the terminals from PCSO’s
conduct of lottery operations under the respective systems of Scientific Games and Intralot. These
payments include the non-lease elements which are presented as “Software and license fees”
under “Cost and expenses’ in the consolidated statements of income (Notes 14 and 17).
b.

Operating Lease
As Lessor
The Parent Company leases to PCSO online lotto equipment and accessories for a period of 2
years and 7 months until July 31, 2018 as provided in the 2015 Amended ELA. The fees, presented
as “Equipment rental” in the consolidated statements of income, are based on a percentage
of gross sales of lotto terminals or a fixed annual rental of P35,000 per terminal in commercial
operation, whichever is higher (Note 2).
TGTI leases to PCSO online keno equipment and accessories for a period of 10 years from the time
the ELA will run in commercial operations. Rental payment is based on certain percentage of gross
amount of online keno games from the operation of all PCSO’s terminals or a fixed annual rental of
P40,000 per terminal in commercial operation, whichever is higher (Note 2).
Rental income amounted to P1,579.7 million in 2016, P1,459.2 million in 2015 and P1,371.3 million
in 2014. Future minimum rental income for the remaining lease term are as follows:
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“Others” under Other income consist of:

On September 1, 2005, the Commissioner of Bureau of Internal Revenue (BIR) signed Revenue
Regulations (RR) No. 16-2005, which took effect on November 1, 2005. The RR, among others,
introduced the following changes:
a.

The government or any of its political subdivisions, instrumentalities or agencies, including
government-owned or controlled corporations (GOCCs) shall, before making payment on
account of each purchase of goods and/or of services taxed at 12% VAT pursuant to Sections
106 and 108 of the Tax Code, deduct and withhold a final VAT due at the rate of 5% of the
gross payment thereof; and

b.

The 5% final VAT withholding rate represents the net VAT payable of the seller. The remaining
7% effectively accounts for the standard input VAT for sales of goods or services to government
or any of its political subdivisions, instrumentalities or agencies including GOCCs, in lieu of the
actual input VAT. Should actual input VAT exceed 7% of gross payments, the excess may form
part of the seller’s expense or cost. On the other hand, if actual input VAT is less than 7% of
gross payment, the difference must be closed to expense or cost.

The Group recognizes the excess of standard input VAT over actual input VAT as income which is presented as “Excess input VAT” in the consolidated statements of income.
Others consist mainly of miscellaneous income, bank charges and parts and sim replacements collected from agents.

21. Retirement Plan
The Parent Company, TGTI and LCC have funded, noncontributory defined benefit plans covering substantially all of its regular employees. Annual cost is determined using the projected unit credit method. The
latest actuarial valuation date is December 31, 2016. Valuations are obtained on a periodic basis.
The Retirement Plans (Plan) of LCC and TGTI provide a retirement benefit equal to 22.5 days pay for every year of credited service, while the Plan of the Parent Company provides a retirement benefit equal to
one-half month salary for every year of credited service.
The Plans meet the minimum retirement benefit specified under Republic Act 7641.
The retirement plans of the Companies are administered by a trustee bank under the supervision of a Retirement Plan Trustee (Trustee), as appointed by the Companies in the Trust Agreement. The Trustee is
responsible for the investment strategy of the retirement plans.

The changes in the effect of asset ceiling are as follows:

The fair value of plan assets consist of the following:

All debt instruments and unit investment trust funds have quoted prices in active markets.
The Parent Company and TGTI expect to contribute P5.0 million and P14.4 million, respectively to the defined benefit plan in 2017.
The principal assumptions used in determining the retirement liability of the Group are shown below:

Assumptions for mortality rates are based on The 2001 CSO Table - Generational (Scale AA, Society of Actuaries). Assumptions for disability rates are based on The Disability Study, Period 2 Benefit 5 (Society
of Actuaries).
As at December 31, 2016, the weighted average duration of the retirement liability of the Group is 16.1 years to 24.6 years.
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Maturity analysis of total benefit payments of the Group:

As at December 31, 2016, the reasonable possible changes to one of the relevant actuarial assumptions holding other assumptions constant, would have affected the defined benefit obligation by the amounts
below:t These defined benefit plans expose the Group to actuarial risks, such as longevity risk, interest rate risk and market risk.

Asset-liability Matching (ALM)
The Group does not perform any ALM study. The overall investment policy and strategy of the retirement plan is based on the Group’s suitability assessment, as provided by its trust bank in compliance with the
Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas (BSP) requirements.

22. Earnings Per Share
The following table presents information necessary to calculate basic and diluted EPS during the year:

Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the net income for the period by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year.
Diluted EPS is calculated in the same manner as basic EPS in as much as there are no dilutive instruments issued in 2016, 2015 and 2014.

23. Financial Instruments
Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
The Group’s principal financial instruments are composed of cash and cash equivalents, marketable
securities, investment in stocks and obligations under finance lease. The main purpose of these financial
instruments is to provide financing for the Group’s capital expenditures and operations. The Group has
various other financial assets and liabilities such as trade and other receivables (except advances to
contractors and employees), refundable deposits, guarantee bonds, trade and other current liabilities,
which arise directly from its operations. The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are credit risk, equity price risk, liquidity risk and foreign currency risk. There has been no change to the
Group’s exposure to these financial risks or the manner in which it manages and measures the risks.
The Group’s BOD and management review and agree on the policies for managing each of these risks
as summarized below:
Credit Risk
The Group’s trade receivables arise from the ELA with PCSO and the OMOA with PGEC. Since the
Group has significant concentration of credit risk on its receivable from PCSO and PGEC, it is the
Group’s policy that all terms specified in the ELA and OMOA are complied with and payment terms
are observed. With respect to other receivables, the Group manages credit risk by transacting only
with recognized, creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy that the BOD approves the major
transactions with third parties. Receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the
objective that the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant.
With respect to credit risk arising from the other financial assets of the Group, which are composed of
cash in banks, trade and other receivables, marketable securities, investments in stocks, refundable
deposits and guarantee bonds, the Group’s exposure to credit risk arises from default of the
counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of these instruments.
The table below shows the maximum exposure to credit risk for the Group’s financial assets as at
December 31, 2016 and 2015 without taking into account any collateral and other credit enhancements

Receivables that are past due but not impaired are still collectible based on the assessment of debtor’s
ability to pay and collection agreement.
The table below shows the credit quality of the Group’s neither past due nor impaired financial assets
based on their historical experience with the corresponding third parties:

* Excluding Advances to contractors and suppliers
** Included as part of “Other noncurrent assets” in the consolidated statements of financial position
The table below shows the aging analysis of receivables as at December 31, 2016 and 2015:

*Excluding advances to contractors and suppliers
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*Excluding advances to contractors and suppliers
Grade A pertains to those cash and cash equivalents and guarantee bonds that are deposited in
reputable banks, investments with reputable publicly listed companies and receivables from PCSO
which are consistently collected before the maturity date. Grade B pertains to receivables that are
collected on their due dates even without an effort from the Group to follow them up. Grade C pertains
to receivables which are collected on their due dates provided that the Group made a persistent effort
to collect them.

Investments in Stocks

Equity Price Risk
Equity price risk is the risk that the fair value of equity investments decreases as a result of changes
in the value of individual stock. The Group’s current exposure to equity price risk relates primarily to
the Group’s quoted marketable securities and investments in stocks. The Group monitors the equity
investments based on market expectations. Significant investments within the portfolio are managed on
an individual basis and all buy and sell decisions are approved by the BOD.
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in equity price, with
all other variables held constant, of the Group’s consolidated income before income tax and equity:

Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will be unable to meet its payment obligations when they fall due under normal and stress circumstances and equity securities. To limit this risk, the Group closely monitors
its cash flows and ensures that credit facilities are available to meet its obligations as and when they fall due. The Group also has a committed line of credit that it can access to meet liquidity needs.
The Group maintains sufficient cash to finance its operations. Any excess cash is invested in short-term money market placements and equity securities. These are maintained to meet the requirements for
additional capital expenditures, maturing obligations and cash dividends.
The table below summarizes the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted payments:

* Excluding statutory liabilities amounting to P19.0 million.
** Inclusive of current portion

* Excluding statutory liabilities amounting to P1.9 million.
** Inclusive of current portion
Foreign Currency Risk
The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such exposure arises from cash and cash equivalents and payables to certain suppliers which are denominated in U.S. dollar (US$). The Group’s financial
instruments which are denominated in foreign currency include cash and cash equivalents and consultancy and software and license fees payable. The Group maintains a US$ account to match its foreign
currency requirements.
As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, assets and liabilities denominated in US$ include cash and cash equivalents amounting to P30.7 million (US$0.6 million) and P45.1 million (US$1.0 million), respectively; trade
payables amounting to nil and P53.1 million(US$1.1 million), respectively; and consultancy and software and license fees payable amounting to P51.7 million (US$1.0 million) and P57.8 million (US$1.2 million),
respectively.
In translating foreign currency-denominated monetary assets and liabilities into peso amounts, the exchange rates used were P49.77 and P47.12 to US$1, the Php to US$ exchange rates, as at December 31,
2016 and 2015, respectively.
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the Php-US$ exchange rates, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s consolidated income before tax. There is no
other impact on the Group’s equity other that those already affecting profit or loss.

The increase in US$ rate means stronger US$ against Php while the decrease in US$ means stronger Php against the US$.
Capital Management
The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and
to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.
The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, reacquire its own shares, or issue new shares. The Group monitors capital on the basis of current ratio and debt-to-equity ratio. The Group’s strategy, which was
unchanged from prior year, was to maintain current ratio and debt-to-equity ratio at manageable levels.
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The Group defines capital as capital stock, additional paid-in capital, treasury shares and retained earnings. Other components of equity are excluded from capital for purposes of capital management.
The Group’s current ratio, calculated as total current assets over total current liabilities, and debt-to-equity ratio, calculated as total liabilities over equity, as at December 31, 2016 and 2015 are as follows:
Current Ratio

Debt-to-Equity Ratio

To address the prohibition in maintaining excess retained earnings over the paid in capital under Sec. 43 of the Corporation Code, the Group intends to continuously declare dividends and is considering
various options in line with its business objectives and strategies and state of the gaming industry.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
Set out below is a comparison by category of carrying amounts and fair values of all the Group’s financial instruments as at December 31, 2016 and 2015:

* Excluding statutory liabilities amounting to P1.9 million.
The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, deposits and trade and other current liabilities approximate their fair values due to the short-term nature of the
transactions.
The fair values of marketable securities and investment in stocks are based on quoted market prices.
The fair values of guarantee bonds, deposits and obligations under finance lease approximate their carrying amount since the Group does not anticipate that the effect of discounting using the prevailing
market rate is significant.

There were no transfers between Levels in 2016 and 2015.
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